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FOREWORD

The Channel Islands National Park and
National Marine Sanctuary encompass more
than a thousand square miles of submerged
lands. Close caoperation between the National
Park Service (NPS), National Oceanic and
Atmospheric Administration (NOAA), U.S.
Navy and the State of California have been
necessary to the successful management of
this diverse marine protected area.

Shipwrecks and other underwater
historical sites were soon recognized as major
components of the public values needing
attention by managers. Scientific diving
operations were undertaken to evaluate and
protect these sites in association with efforts
to document and monitor the area's rich
natural resources.

This work by Don P. Morris and James
Lima lays a firm foundation for future
research and protection of the submerged

Xvil

cultural resources of the Channel Islands. The
authors systematically discuss what's known
about the submerged archeological sites from
their own field work and that of their
colleagues. They then foreshadow the
potential for future finds as suggested from
archival research.

Morris and Lima have articulately
presented an historical and prehistoric context
for understanding the maritime archeology of
the area and offer managers strategies for
nurturing these resources into the next
millennium. That, after all, is what parks and
sanctuaries are all about.

Daniel J. Lenihan, Chief
Submerged Cultural Resources Unit
National Park Service
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CHAPTER I

Introduction

This repert gathers together historical and
archeological information on vessels that
wrecked within the boundaries of Channel
Islands National Park and Channel Islands
National Marine Sanctuary before 1980, when
the two preserves were established off the
southern coast of California. It summarizes,
as well, a series of archeological investigations
of wreck scatters in this area that began in the
early 1980s with Dan Lenihan's dives on the
Winfield Scott and continued after 1985 under
the direction of the senior author. The latter
work, whick: located and documented several
large wreck scatters, 1s summarized here for
the first time. Although major gaps remain in
our knowladge of the shipwrecks and
submerged cultural resources, considerably
more information is now available to the
Channel Islands staff than was known in the
mid-1960s, when a request for information
about wrecks from a dive group drew the
response, "There are no shipwrecks at
Anacapa Island."

The first definite location of a wreck in the
area under consideration by the National Park
Service (NPS) came on August 23, 1981. Dan
Lenihan, Chief of the Submerged Culturai
Resources Unit, and his wife Barbara
confirmed the rumored location of the

Winfield Scott at the request of park staff, who
had noticed concentrated diver activity in the
area. Additional work took place in 1982 and
1983, when the wreck scatter was the subject
of an NPS diver's workshop that produced an
clementary map of the wreckage. More
importantly, this basic knowledge enabled the
park to provide a measure of protection to the
ship's wreckage.

A literature survey commissioned by
Channel Islands National Marine Sanctuary
and funded by the National Oceanic and
Atmospheric Administration (NOAA)
(Howorth and Hudson 1985) provided a
beginning point for the current investigations.
Howorth and Hudson's report encapsulated
firsthand knowledge of the area's wrecks by
one of the better informed modern boat
captains active in the Channel Islands.

Our fieldwork began when the sanctuary
obtained the services of the NOAA
hydrographic vessel Fairweather for a week
April 1985. We scanned a number of
potential wreck sites around the islands in a
series of magnetometer and side-scan sonar
searches of likely areas indicated by Howorth
and Hudson. (This cruise of the Fairweather
was the second collaboration between NPS
and NOAA to detect and research submerged




resources.)  Unfortunately, the principal
finding of the project was that side-scan sonar
was not an etfective search tool in the thick
kelp and rough, uneven bottom characieristic
of the most interesting potential wreck areas.

Later that summer, a week-long cruise put
NPS divers on the wrecks of two ships, the
Goldenhorn and the Aggi, and an airplanc near
Gull Island. This study was followed by two
week-Tong saltwater workshops that mapped
the Goldenhorn and began a reconnaissance of
the Aggi.  All the work in 1985 received
substantial support from NPS's Submerged
Culwral Resources Unit in Santa Fe, New
Mexico.  Concurrently, Steve Haller and
Roger Kelly (1987) and James Delgado of the
San Francisco National Maritime Museum
provided  additional  information  and
documentation from primary archives and
sources in San Francisco. Their work laid the
basis for historical understanding of the ships.

Wreck cruises during succeeding years
located and mapped the Cuba, conducted
additional mapping of the Aggi, and carried
out investigations at various other locations,
laying the foundation for a long-term
monitoring program.  During this period,
shipwreck investipations began to include
wreckage on the beaches and in the intertidal
zonce of the islands, as well as systematic
examination of local newspapers.

Of great value to this report were the
etforts of students in the first class in maritime
archeology at California State University,
Long Beach, under the direction of William
Lee. These students provided valuable leads
to documentation of many wrecks within the
study area, clearly demonstrating the need for
further  examination of primary  wreck
documentation.

In 1992, the junior author, who had been
a volunteer diver for several seasons, was

ha

funded by the U.S. Navy to do additional
work in the Point Mugu Test Range, which
icludes nearly all of Channel Istands National
Park. He focused on record sources in
southern California and brought
documentation on more than 40 additional
vessels into this report.

By this point in the study, the authors were
attempting o examine every edition of
Merchant Vessels of the United Siates to
obtain wreck dates and locations. We secured
further information from newspaper accounts
and ship logs, certificates of enrollment,
wreck reports, and other documents on deposit
at  the National  Archives and  other
repositories. This material has been copied,
assembled, and filed at Channel Islands
National Park, where key information has
been assembled into a dBase 111 file.

It had become clear by this time that much
of the sccondary literature on  southern
California shipwrecks was inaccurate. As a
result, citations in this repoit are usually from
primary, or at least from contemporary,
sources, to avoid perpetuation of errors.
Several vessels that lie outside our study area
are discussed simply because they have been
listed as island wrecks in the secondary
sources. This study gives evidence indicating
otherwise.

The ficldwork for this swdy, ideally
preceded by careful documentary searches,
employed very basic lechniques.  Local
knowledge and historical photographs proved
more useful than magnetometers and side-scan
sonar arrays, which were often thwarted by
kelp and other environmental factors. Manual
mapping, photography, and videotaping were
the principal means of documenting the wreck
scatters reported here. A great deal of
material has been found on the beaches and in
the intertidal areas of the park islands and has



been reported by various archeological
projects and by park employees engaged in
other operations.

Nearly all the fieldwork was accomplished
by volunteers, who worked faithfully and
diligently, oflen in conditions ranging from
poor to rotten, to map and photograph vesscl
remains. The results of their work are
presented in  sections that discuss the
shipwrecks of the park in terms of the major
type of trade the vessel conducted.

Nearly all previous studies of shipwrecks
for the park have set some sort of lower size
limit, such as 50 feet long or 50 tons, and thus
do not consider the smaller vessels of the area.
We adopted no lower limit for at least two
reasons. First, adopting an arbitrary limit
says that historical (i.e., important) events or
processes did not occur on small craft. Such
is not the case. Second, watercraft are simply
artifacts—-tools used to accomplish desired
results. Through historical and archeological
study of the artifact, we attempt to understand
the people who made the decisions and guided
the tools, as well as the environmental and
social milieus in which they lived. Small craft
can be every bit as helpful in this endeavor as
big ones. Seal hunters, for example, used
small boats, but with large impacts, which 18
why historical studies of sealing and its
associated boats are worthwhile.

Nevertheless, this study is undeniably
biased in favor of larger ships bhecause they
are, after all, more conspicuous, more
prominent in the historical record, and easier
to trace. Future fieldwork and historical
research should strive to eliminate this bias.

We discuss submerged prehistoric sites
only briefly, not because they are unimportant
but because the excellent treatment of them by
the late Travis Hudson (Howorth and Hudson
1985) is still current. Certainly submerged
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sites did exist along former coastlines, and
some may have left detectable traces. Since
Hudson's synopsis, however, only one
artifact, a stone mortar, has come from a
submerged context. It is the only one known
with a provenience even close to precise.
Inaccurate and vague locations make progress
difficult in this area.

Similarly, yachting and recreational use of
boats receive short shrift here, even though
bits and pieces of sailboats can be found more
and more commonly around the islands. A
problem in assessing them is the propensity of
the fiberglass boat to disintegrate, literally
overnight, into tiny gel-coated bits of
laminate. Yet recreational use of the islands
is an important use today; it is part of the
area’s maritime history, undoubtedly with its
own unique environmental effects.

Our ignorance of prehistoric watercraft is
enormous, Humans reached the islands at
least 10,000 years ago (Moratto 1984:71) and
produced conspicuous middens by 8,000 B.P.
Since the islands were not connected to the
mainland at that time, what watercraft were
used? Documented remains of watercraft that
could shed light on this era would be the most
important new information possible for the
maritime history of the Channel Islands--even
more important than finding the quasi-
mythical Spanish galleon alleged to lie off San
Miguel Island. We have included in this
report a section that summarizes our scant
knowledge about prehistoric watercraft in the
Channel Islands and the myth and hearsay
surrounding possible Spanish wrecks.

In terms of maritime history, the gold rush
of 1849 stands as a watershed between the
relatively tranquil time of Hispanic California
described superbly in Two Years Before the
Mast (Dana 1965) and the rapid developments
following it. Accordingly, a section deals




briefly with the gold rush, the development of
the steamship route to Panama, and associated
wrecks.

The greatesi part ol the report deals with
historical and archeological data acquired
about post-gold-rush vessels.  These are
presenied under the headings of the activities
with which the vessels were associated.
Within each seclion, vessel accounis are
presented chronologically by time of the
incident that brings the vessel to our attention,
Discussion of precise locations is deliberately
a little thin; this assessment is not intended to
be "A Looter's Guide to Channel [slands
National Park and Marine Sanctuary.”

Preparing this report has been the best
possible way to realize how much more there
is to learn about the submerged cultural
resources of the park.  For small boais,
recreational vessels, and many other subjects,
there 18 surely more  information to be
gathered, both from archival research and
{rom fieldwork.

Throughout this report, we use Linglish
measurcments and distances because this was
the system in conumon use under which nearly
all the documenied vessels were  buwilt.

Dimensions and tonnage figures come cither
from copies of ship's documents or from some
official source, typically Merchant Vessels of
the United States.  We also employ the
following series of abbreviations for the
islands and for frequently cited publications
and newspapers.

Table 1.1. Abbreviations Used in Publication

ANI  Anacapa Island

SBI Santa Barbara Island
SCR Sania Cruz Island
SMI San Miguel Island
SRI Santa Rosa Island

LAT  Los Angeles Times

MVUS Merchanr Vessels of the United
States

RAFS Record of American and Foreign
Shipping

SBDP  Santa Barbara Daily Press

SBMP  Santa Barbara Morning Press

SBNP  Santa Barbara News Press

VSI'P Ventura Star Free Press

BLM  Bureau of Land Management

NPS National Park Service



CHAPTER 11

Overview

A cham of four islands—Anacapa, Santa
Cruz, Santa Kosa, and San Miguel-—together
with Santa Barbara Island, forms the nucleus
of Channel Islands National Park and
Channel Islands National Marine Sanctuary.
The park consists of these five islands and
their offshore waters for a distance of 1
nautical mile, while the marine sanctuary
comprises the waters offshore from these
islands for a distance of 6 nautical miles.

The four islands lie off the coast of
southern California at a distance that varies
from 11 miles at the eastern, or Anacapa,
end t© 26 miles at the San Miguel, or
western end; together they form the southern
boundary of the passage known as the Santa
Barbara Channel. North of San Miguel
Island on the California mainland is Point
Conception, marks  important
biological,  geological, and cultural
boundaries. To the east of the islands lie
Santa Monica and San Pedro bays and the
Pacific Rim hub of Los Angeles.

Today, bold magenta markings on
nautical charts show the official shipping
lanes that funnel commercial vessels from
Point Conceprion eastward to Los Angeles.

which  markeg imnartant

These lanes, used by coastwise and trans-
Pacific vessels alike, bring ships past the
four northern islands to the ports of the Los
Angeles basin, the largest ports on the West
Coast.  Vessels that failed to find the
entrance at the west end or that misnavigated
along the way contributed to the shipwreck
record of the park and provide the greater
part of the subject matter of this report. As
an informal sample of the vessels that have
plied these waters, the wrecks of Channel
Islands ~ National Park reflect the
development of Los Angeles from a sleepy
pueblo into a major maritime center.

From very early prehistoric times, the
Santa Barbara Channel (Figure 2.1) and the
islands have seen a variety of watercraft,
from Chumash plank canoes (tomols), reed
rafts, and dugouts to the increasingly diverse
craft that characterize recent, cosmopolitan
cultures-—a range that spans Spanish
galleons and modern aircraft. These vessels
either transited the channel en route to
distant Pacific ports or West Coast
destinations or voyaged to the islands to
profit from their rich resources. Because the
topography, weather, and  natural
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Figure 2.1, Santa Barbara Channel.

features of this region have mfluenced the
wrecking of these vessels, a short discussion
of these important factors is in order.

Geography

Considering that the four northern
istands are separated by passages only a few
miles across, the differences among them are
startling. These differences are expressed in
terms of topography, weather, and both
marine and terreserial plants and animals,

San Miguel Island (Figure 2.2) consists
of rolling hills recaching a maxmmum
clevation ol 831 feet above sea level.

Greatly overgrazed by sheep during most of

the past 150 years, bare sand dunes and a

low chaparral plant community, now
flourishing again, cover the island. Because
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the island projects to the west beyond the
protection of Point Conception, its weather
is remarkably windy and foggy.

Santa Rosa Island (Figure 2.3) features
a relatively flat terrace on its northern part,
flanked by a relatively steep mountain ridge
that reaches a height of 1,589 feet.  In
addition to chaparral and grasses, stands of
oak trees and Lwo species of pines grow in
sheltered tocations on the island.  Weather
on Santa Rosa Island is calmer than that of
San Miguel but is still notably windy and
foggy.

Both San Migucl and Santa Rosa islands
contain sedimentary formations, typically of
Oligocene and Miocene age, interlaced with
inrusive Miocene volcanics.  Exploiting
their weakness, the ocean has eroded into
the softer sedimentary formations to form
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Cuyler Harbor on San Miguel Island, a
process that continues actively today.

Santa Cruz Island (Figure 2.4), the
largest and most rugged of all the Changel
Islands, reachss a height of 2,434 feet at
Mount Diable. The island is made up of
two parallel cast-west trending mountain
ridges flanking a secluded interior valley.
The north coast is sieep and rugged, while
the south side contains several beaches and
sheltered coves. Santa Cruz is relatively
sheltered by the mainland mountain ridges to
the north. Prisoners Harbor is the principal
harbor,

Anacapa Island (Figure 2.5) is actually
composed of three separate islets that are
nearly joined by sandspits at low tide.
Together these islets comprise a steep
volcanic ridge. Fast and Middle Anacapa
are relatively flat compared to rugged West
Anacapa, which reaches a height of 930 feet
on Summit Peak. Frenchy's Cove, where
Middle and West Anacapa meet, is the most
reasonable landing. Until the construction

of the Anacapa Light in the early 1930s, the
present landing cove was not particularly
accessible.  Relatively calm conditions
prevail on Anacapa even when the outer
islands are quite unsettled.

Santa Barbara Island (Figure 2.6) is the
tip of a Miocene volcano. The smallest of
the islands in the park, at 640 acres, it
generally experiences the calmest seas and
weather.  Its coastline is rugged and
difficult, except for a few locations on the
east side.

All the islands have seen at least
sporadic attempts at occupation and grazing
during historic times, although these
episodes were short lived on Santa Barbara
and Anacapa. The larger operations all
involved support vessels that transported
supplies, stock, and personnel from island to
mainland on a frequent basis.

Although  the islands' terrestrial
resources, other than their grazing potential,
are relatively sparse, the surrounding waters
sparkle with life, supported by the kelp
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forests that abound in depths out 1o 100 feet.
This singularty productive system supported
prehistoric occupation for at least cight
millennia  and  has  survived  historic
exploitation, though with changes and
consequences that are not fully understood.

Weather

Wind and weather reach the Channel
Islands from the northwest. The California
Curreni proceeds south along the California
coast, bringing cold water 1o the channel.
Northwest winds that frequently build large
seas result from the typical presence ol the
Pacific high pressure arca offshore, which
causes a {low toward low pressure arcas
onshore. The variable strength and locarion
of the Pacific high together inftuence the

track of storms that pass through the islands
and make the Santa Barbara Channel a very
interesting and uapredictable weather arca.
One need only read a few accounts of
shipwrecks In these waters 1o realize that fog
causes conditions favorable for wrecking.
‘The Goldenhorn, the Cuba, the Chickasaw,
and the Winfield Scorr all wrecked in fog.
Fog forms easily on the islands, owing 10 a
variety of conditions. Tt is most common at
the western end of the channel, where both
San Miguel Island and Point
Conception—the western mainland terminus
of ihe channel—frequently — expericnce
sufficient fog to hinder navigation.

The climatic conditions are very
variable around this island. 1t
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receives  the full force of the
northwest winds and swell, and in
summer, togs cnvelop it more than
half the time.  Lven if the weather
clears off in day-time the fogs seule
over it at night. When we were
encamped lor more than three
months at Pomt Conception, we did
not sec it and the other islands for
several weeks on account of the fog
[Davidson 1889:93].
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‘The persistent fog results primarily from
the wpwelling effects of the California
Current as it sweeps down the coast and
around San Miguel and Point Conception,
bringing cool, deep water 1o the surface,
where, il the air is warmer, it
moisiure (o condense, creating fog. A land
breeze may also blow warmer surlace walers
out to sca, which brings cooler water to the
surface with the same result. Fog can form

Causcs



quickly and become quite dense under these
conditions.

In addition, the persistent northwesterly
winds bring warm air to the channel, where
it picks up moisture. Fog forms as the air
cools during the evening, persisting until the
warming sun heats and dissipates the fog in
midday. This moist layer, the marine layer,
is often capped by warm, dry air that
contains the heavier, foggy air below it.
Fog can also cecur as landward air heats and
rises, drawing moist air in from the ocean,
When this air cools during the evening, fog
may form.

Fog is common throughout the year in
the channel; it is most common in the early
summer and on the windward, or northwest,
sides of the islands, particularly San Miguel
and Santa Rosa. From Point Conception to
Gaviota, the mainland coast is often fog
free.

Southeasters, or cyclonic lows, affect the
area during the winter, occurring as early as
October and lasting into May. These storms
generally peak in frequency and intensity
from December through February. They
bring rain and snow to the area, and their
strong winds and heavy seas pose great
hazards to rnariners—especially because
after the front passes, winds shift from the
initial southeast direction to the southwest
and then to the northwest, and velocities
increase to 20-30 knots or more. The worst
sea conditions often occur when skies clear
after the front has passed (Fagan 1983:43).
Wind gusts of up to 100 knots have been
recorded at Point Conception in connection
with these storms. Dana (1965) provides a
vivid account of the labor sailing crews
performed to avoid being caught in harbors
turned suddenly into lee shores by
southeasters.
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Santa Ana winds blow from the
mainland out to sea from the northeast when
high pressure systems occupy the interior of
the mainland. They bring ferocious winds
to the eastern portion of the channel,
although conditions often remain mild and
pleasant on the outer islands of San Miguel
and Santa Rosa. Anacapa I[sland receives
strong Santa Anas from the Santa Clara
River valley, which can blow 30 knots with
gusts to 80 knots and higher.

Weather and sea conditions frequently
vary from one end of the channel to the
other. Heavy weather and seas are more
common to the west in the islands, an
important point to remember when one is
experiencing balmy conditions around
Anacapa and contemplating a voyage to San
Miguel.  These variable environmental
conditions enhance the diversity that
characterizes the biological resources of the
islands.

While storms and fog obviously create
problems for mariners, the absence of wind
also can be hazardous for sailing vessels that
lose way and steerage and are then moved
only by currents, at random, often into
danger. Lack of wind played a part in the
wrecking of the Goldenhorn.

Surface Currents

Surface currents in the Santa Barbara
Channel and around the islands are complex,
being influenced by a variety of factors.
Very important is the California Current,
which flows south offshore from the coast as
part of the general circulation pattern of the
Pacific Ocean. At Point Conception, the
configuration of the coastline generates a
northward flowing eddy, the Southern



California Counter Curreni, which usually
flows to the south near the istands and north
along the mainland coast. This condition is
common rom July through November, a
time that is ermed the Oceanic Period.

In a typical year, the Oceanic Period is
followed by a weakening of the California
Current from November through Tebruary.
‘This results in the surfacing of the Davidson
Current, often manifested as a general
northern flow around the islands and in the
Santa Barbara Channel. The balance of the
year is called the Upwelling Period, with
surface currents similar o those of the
Oceanic Period but generated primarily by
strong surface winds.

[t mwst be eimphasized that these paterns
are not entirely reliable and predictable.
Oceanic Period currents tend 1o peak in
September  and  October,  whereas  the
upwelling system is often very strong in
May, June, and July and the Davidson
Period is  strongest in December  and
January. The sitwation varics from ycar 1o
year.

Navigation and Shipping Hazards

During storms and periods of reduced
visibility, the islands  themselves  are

navigation hazirds.  Although many parts of

the islands within the park, especially Santa
Cruz Island, are clear ol hazards, certain
areas arc extremely foul.

"The most  dangerous  {island] (o
approach” (Davidson 1889:93), San Mipucl
offers the roughest weather, the greatest
number of submerged rocks, and the poorest
visibility in the park and sanctuary. These
superlatives combine with numerous shoal

arcas 10 produce the greatest density of

shipwreeks in the park.  Many hazards
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converge in Simonton Cove, a lee shore for
coastal shipping vessels attempting to enter
the Santa Barbara Channcl and a gigantic
catcher's mitt for those who misnavigate.

Dangers are especially common off the
northwest shore ol San Miguel  Island,
particularly at - Westcott  Shoal,  which
extends west for 1.5 miles from Harris Point
and generatly south to Point Bennetr,  Castle
Rock is the largest and most prominent of
these hazards (Davidson 1889:95). Wilson
Rock lies 2.2 miles northwest from Harris
Point. Deep water around Wilson Rock and
its associated reefs, and the lack ol kelp
growing there, hinders detection ol this
hazard in foggy weather. Numerous rocks
lie off Point Bennett. Richardson Rock, 5.5
miles  northwest  from  Point  Bennett,
likewise rises from deep water.

Although the south coast of San Migucl
is reasonably clear, Wyckoff Ledge rises to
within 15 feet of the surface about 0.5 mile
off the south shore, LFoul ground lies east of
Crook Point, situated at about the middie of
San Miguel's southern shore.  Cardwell
Point, a shoaling sandspit often marked by
spectacular breakers, extends a reef 1 mile
into the San Miguel Passage. Lven Cuyler
[Harbor, one of the more popular anchorages
in the islands and certainly the most
commonly used anchorage on San Miguel
Istand, contains its dangers, most nota
Can Rock and Middle Rock.

Currents around San Miguel generally
conform to the northwesterly winds but
gencraie cddies at Point Bennett and east of
Cardwell Point; cach ol these can carry
vessels inlo danger.

Santa Rosa Island, 3 nules east of San
Miguel, provides somewhat beiter weather
and fewer hazards, although much of iis
shore is exposed and no good anchorages



exist. The best can be found at Johnson's
Lee and Becher's Bay.

At Sandy Point, the western promomory
of Santa Rosa Island, rocks lie within 0.2
miles of shore; heavy currents sweep
through here during northwesterlies. Bee
Rock, 0.8 miles off the southwest shore, is
quite low. It is one of several dangers along
this shore, most of which lie well within the
extensive kelp beds found here. A rock lies
northeast from East Point. Rocks are also
found north of Skunk Point.

Beacon Reef renders close approaches to
Carrington Point, the northeast corner of
Santa Rosa I[sland, hazardous. Rodes Reef
is found to the west. As on the south coast,
several rocks occur inside the kelp beds
along the northern shore. One and one-half
miles northeast of Sandy Point, Talcott
Shoal rises to within less than 15 feet of the
surface.

Davidson (1889:85) noted only Gull
Island as a notable hazard associated with
Santa Cruz !sland, devoting instead many
paragraphs to discussing the numerous
anchorages near the island. An area near
West Point, the notorious "Potato Patch,”
produces chaotic seas when currents and
wind oppose one another, creating real
hazards for smaller boats. “Stay away!" is
one park captain's advice (Dwight Willey,
personal communication).

Anacapa Island marks the castern,
narrow end of the Santa Barbara Channel
and thus is an intrinsic hazard in foggy
weather. Several wrecks lie close to the
island. Anacapa's shores are rocky and
high. Cat Rock, off the south shore of West
Anacapa, is the most significant outlying
hazard. Strong currents can run at either
end of the island, with resulting chaotic
seas.
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Near Santa Barbara [sland, outlying
Sutil Island and Shag Rock have rocks close
by that pose problems for approaching
boats. The area around Webster Point also
contains numerous rocks. The most
dangerous hazard is "Seven-tenths Rock," an
isolated rock due west of Webster Point.
Water does not always break around it in
calmer conditions and hence it is difficult to
detect.

Anchorages: Problems and Shortcomings

Locating a safe, sheltered anchorage in
the Channel Islands is not a straightforward
process. There is no all-weather harbor in
the islands. The unwary ship captain who
does not respond to changes in the weather
will find his vessel on a lee shore. This is
particularly true of the more popular
anchorages, such as Cuyler Harbor on San
Miguel Island and Smuggler's Cove on
Santa Cruz Island, which present hazards
when the prevailing northwesterlies yield to
southeasters or Santa Anas.

Cuyler Harbor holds more than its
proportionate share of wrecks. The Kare
and Anna went aground in April 1902 as its
anchor chain failed, overstrained in a hard
northwesterly blow (Haller 1986). Other,
recent fishing vessels in Cuyler Harbor
include the Deano and the Gold Coast. The
Gold Coasi stranded in July 1985, just
before the fieldwork for this project began,
and another boat, the Susie, stranded in
February 1994.

Cuyler Harbor is a reasonably good
anchorage; one reason there are several
wrecks there is simply its popularity. It
does not offer complete protection in all
weather, and a strong northwest swell can
wrap around Harris Point, invading the




anchorage (Peter Howorth, personal
communication), Although  Davidson
(1889:96) stated that the holding ground in
the anchorage was not good, many captaing
today consider it quite suitable. Perhaps this
change in perception relates to  the
development of new anchors that work
better in hard sand, the prevailing bottom in
Cuyler Harbor, than the traditional forms.
‘The bottom in Cuyler Harbor may have
changed considerably since Cabrillo's time
due to widespread erosion in the last 150
years. Cuyler Harbor becomes a lee shore
during southeasters and extremely strong
Santa Anas.  Even under the prevailing
northwesterlies, a vessel dragging anchor
can wreck quickly on the beach at the
southeastern end of the bay. Several have
done so.

Santa Rosa Island countains remarkably
few anchorages, ithe best two being
Johnson's Lee and Becher's Bay, Becher's
Bay provides shelter from northwest scas,

but the headland of Carrington Point, if

anything, accelerates northwest  winds.
Although Becher's Bay s relatively wide,
Skunk Point provides a lee shore under most
conditions.  Johnson's Lee, which also
provides better protection against seas than
against winds, at least ofters ample sca room
to leeward. A strong southern swell can
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complicate  anchoring  here the
surnmer months,

Santa Cruz Island, in contrast, provides
numerous bays and inlets, a small-boat
satlor's delight.  Davidson (1889:86-88)
discussed 16 anchorages on this island, and
modern cruising  guides, catering to the
needs of smaller recreational sailors, know
of stll more. Although these anchorages
now serve recreational needs, many of them
were the sites of small fishing or lobster
camps m the late ninecieenth and early
twenticth centuries. Changing weather or a
strong southerly swell can turn any of these
Lo traps,

Anchorages on Anacapa and Santa
Barbara are marginal; tanding coves and
docks on both islands have been modified
and mmproved in recenl years, but neither
island is capable of providing unattended
shelier for long pertods of iime.

The larger vessels that wrecked on the
tslands, engaged in voyages to and {rom the
major ports of San Irancisco or San Pedro,
had no need of island anchorages. The
Channel  Islands  were no more  than
complications to be dealt with in reaching or
leaving port.  Vessels engaped i sealing,
fishing, or island support, however,
habitually cmployed these various harbors
around the islands for shelter from storms
and periods ol rest.

during



CHAPTER III

Prehistory through the Gold Rush

Juan Cabrillo, exploring for Spain, was the
first European to contact an impressive people
now known as the Chumash, who lived in
settled communities along the mainland shores
of the Santa Barbara Channel and on the
islands. Developers of an elaborate and
complex way of life, the Chumash intrigue
anthropologists because their culture derived
entirely from a hunting and gathering base.
Maritime products figured prominently in
Chumash subsistence, and their key implement
for fishing was the romol, or plank canoe, an
item they shared with their neighbors fo the
gast, the Gabrielenos. The tomol impressed
the early Spaniards enormously:

The expertness and skill of these
Indians is unsurpassed in the
construction of their canoes of pine
boards. . . . They fasten the boards
firmly together, making holes at

eclual distances aFart] one inch from

the edge, matching each other in the
upper and lower boards, and through
these holes they pass stout thongs of
deer singws. They pitch and caulk
the seams, and paint the whole with
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bright colors. They handle them
with equal skill, and three or four
men go out to sea to fish in
them. . . . They use long double-
bladed oars, and row with
indescribable agility and swiftness
[Costanso in Roberts and Shackleton
1983].

By all accounts these vessels were swift,
maneuverable, handy in surf, and generally
seaworthy. Employed for fishing and travel
between the islands and the mainland, tomols
were a kéy technological element in Chumash
culture. Correspondingly, the construction
and use of the tomol figured in a web of
social, economic, and religious relationships
that pervaded Chumash society.

The tomol was not the only watercraft
utilized by the Chumash; they also employed
three- and five-bundle tule balsas and dugout

canoes. The Chumash tﬁically launched

these craft only in lagoons and other sheltered
waters, although Harrington (1978) states that
tule boats did make cross-channel trips.

The tomol, unique among native North
American watercraft in being constructed of



thin wooden planks sewn to cach other and to
a flat "keel board," resembles in many
characteristics a dory, the work boat
developed by fishermen of European
background. Both types of craft possess
straight bottoms from which rise gently
rounded strakes, culminating in a pronounced
rocker sheer. Although at a casual glance the
tomol appears to be double ended, this is not
so; the bow is distinctive, basically being
thinner in cross section than the stern
(Harrington 1978:64). Similar subtle, albeit
significant, differences are characteristic of
most types of dories.

One major difference is that a dory crew
typically rowed, whereas the tomol crew
paddled.  The Chumash developed two
varieties of paddle, one short and single
ended, the other double bladed and between 6
and 10 feet in length. The redwood blades
were grooved and lashed to a separate
ironwood shaft.

Although Harrington (1978:118) states the
case for the paddle blades being offset, or
feathered—that is, attached to the shaft so that
the blades are at right angles—there are no
existing ethnographic examples or
observations to support this interpretation.
Throughout North America, groups using
double-bladed paddles to propel Kkayaks

employ unfeathered paddles. One reason may

be that the wrist action required to manipulate
a feathered paddle tends to cause severe and
disabling tendinitis; the unfeathered paddle is
much kinder, particularly when one is
paddiing for long periods. Modern
recreational sea kayakers debate endlessly the
contrasting  merits of  feathered and
unfeathered paddles; there is no obvious
choice.

Because large trees for production of
dugout canoes are scarce in the Chumash area,
the use of the abundant redwood, pine, and
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Douglas fir driftwood to produce an edge-
sewn plank canoe seems to have been an
environmentally conditioned pattern. Most
conjectures about the tomol speculate that the
vessel developed from a dugout form.
Archeological evidence with which to test this
idea is rare.

Archeologists have recovered fragments of
tomols from sites on San Nicholas Island, 41
miles south of the park, and on Santa Cruz
Island, Santa Rosa [siand, and Catalina Island,
all from late contexts. Nothing like a
complete example has been reported. Such a
find would be extremely important and useful,
even if from a relatively small boat.

A recent terrestrial survey of Santa Rosa
Island does suggest some likely offshore areas
where the potential exists for recovering
submerged prehistoric sites. In 1991, survey
crews located archeological site SRI-91-15, an
early Holocene site with a date of 7,350 £ 70
RCYBP (Beta 47626). This site is very close
to the beach just south of Skunk Point, on the
gastern coast of Santa Rosa Island. The
imposing sea cliffs that indicate vigorous
erosion elsewhere on the island are completely
absent at this locality. Reconnaissance dives
immediately offshore from the site show
plentiful vegetal debris, including Torrey pine
cones that come only from groves to the
northwest along the island's coast. If there
were a site along the coastline here 8,000
years ago, it would lie roughly 60 fect below
sea level. The present environment suggests
that a hypothetical site here might be covered
with recent sediments, unlike other sites
elsewhere on the island where erosion has
probably scattered and dispersed the cultural
material, with the exception of the stone bowls
and mortars that have been recovered in recent
years.

Searches for submerged prehistoric sites
might examine those rare areas around the



island where deposition of sediments, rather
than erosion, predominates. One of the best
areas would be the Santa Rosa Island coastline
from Skunk Point to East Point; another might
be the immediate environs of Prisoners Harbor
on Santa Cruz Island.

Euro-American Vessels Before the Gold Rush

According to the sketchy historical record,
there were very few shipwrecks before the
gold rush of 1849 and the torrent of shipping
that developed as the Euro-American
population of California grew. There is no
record of any loss of vessels of exploration in
southern California, although Cabrillo's ships
may have left behind some anchors and the
Victoria grounded briefly somewhere in the
islands. While there may have been no
maritime disasters, this was certainly an
important time during which American
mercantile interests came to know California
through the China trade, sea otter hunting, and
the surprisingly lucrative hide and tallow
business.

Between 1565 and 1815, Manila galleons
traversed the Pacific Ocean from Manila to
California, a six-month voyage, and then ran
down the coastline to Acapulco. The galleons
would sight land usually around Monterey but
sometimes as far north as Cape Mendocino or
as far south as Baja California. Over the
years, 10 to 12 of these vessels vanished
without any record and have not yet becn
located.

A Manila galleon is rumored to lie off San
Miguel Island (Howorth and Hudson 1985),
although there is no substantive record in a
credible source for this staternent. No definite
physical or documentary evidence for such a
shipwreck has yet come to public view.

A galleon is alleged to have sunk near
Point Bennett on San Miguel Island, and a
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salvage claim was filed with the California
State Lands Commission in the 1970s. The
South Central Coastal Commission authorized
a permit to Gibson-Pierson Ship Salvors, Inc.,
of Toluca Lake on July 25, 1974 (SBNP,
July 26, 1974). The project is described as
follows: "Archeological type recovery of a
wrecked wooden vessel. The purpose of this
application is to allow the salvage of a
300-400 year old wooden vessel lying in
approximately 50 feet of water off the
northwest side of San Miguel Island." The
News Press further states that the vessel was
60 feet long, "carrying a cargo valued at
$100,000 or perhaps several times that
amount.” As a condition of the permit, the
project was o be monitored by the Santa
Barbara Trust for Historic Preservation and
the Santa Barbara Museum of Natural History
(minutes of the South Central Coast Regional
Coastal Commission, July 25, 1974, item 40-
12}.

At least one public meeting was held at the
Santa Barbara Museum of Natural History
describing the project, but there is no record
that any fieldwork took place other than that
mentioned a newspaper article announcing
"Recovery Plan Abandoned." The article
quoted Travis Hudson of the Santa Barbara
Museum of Natural History, who was
appointed monitor for this project. Hudson
stated that "investigation indicates that the
wreckage is scattered too widely to make
exploration and salvage convenient," and
"some objects had been recovered from the
wreckage many years ago, but that not much
information had been gained from these
recoveries." Hudson certainly spoke truly.
He did tell the senior author a shadowy tale of
a "golden captain's ring" that the salvors
showed to prospective investors as "proof” of
the existence of this galleon—but no one ever
explained to Hudson how such a specific




artifact could come from wreckage "scattered
oo widely 1o make exploration
convenient. "

In October 1979, the Coastal Commission
rescinded this permit, commenting thar "the
Commission stalf and  Attorney General's
office attempted to work out the specifics of
the permit, which would conform with the
Commission's authorization. However, an
agreement could not be reached with the
applicant on an acceptable format, and no
pernit was consummated.” Exhibits A and B
attached 1o this document described and
itlusirated the area in which explorations were
0 have occurred:

Beginning at a point i the Paciic
Ocean located at 34° 04" 15" north
latitude, 120° 25" 19" west longitude;
thence southwesterly 1.4 miles, more
or less, to a point located 34° 03" 29"
norih latiiude, 1200 26" 43" west
longiiude; thence S 33° 05" B, 1.25
miles, more or less, o the ordinary
high water mark of San Miguel Island;
northeasterly — along  said
ordinary high water mark to a pomt
that bears S 33° 05' IX from the point
of beginning; thence N 33° 05 W,
1.35 miles, more or less, o the point
of beginning.

thence

This arca 1s gencrally the waters between
Westcott Shoal and San Miguel I[sland, from
Otier Harbor at the southwest end ot Simonton
Cove, southwest along the coast [or about a
mile and a quarter.

As later discussion ol coastwise wreck
patierns witl make clear, San Miguel Island is
a highly plaustble location {or a vessel running
along the Califormia coast o wreck.  The
prevailing winds and currents, aded by log,
would throw a palleon onto the lee shore of

the norithwest coast of San Miguel Island in
Just the way that later lomber schooners
wrecked. Similarly, wreckage from vessels
breaking up offshore would fetch up on ithe
beaches in this portion of the island.  No
material from a galleon or its cargo has ever
been recovered [rom this area, however, nor
have any Spanish-period —artifacts  been
recovered from archeological sites on (he
island—unlike material from the wreck of the
San  Augustin i Drakes  Bay near  San
I'rancisco. ‘The existence of a palleon near
San Miguel Island scems dubious at best.

The quest for sea otier pelts that brought
Aleuts on board American and Russian vessels
to the Channel Islands around 1800 did not
result in any known shipwrecks either. The
nature of the Aleut presence on the islands is
larpely unknown, although Aleut artifacts have
been identified from collections, primarily
from San Nicholas [sland. Two possible Aleut
artifacts have been documented from Santa
Rosa I[sland, and ethnic Aleuts are known to
have come to the mainland missions when the
Chumash population abandoned the Santa
Rosa (Heizer 1955). Sealing vessels later in
the century, which ook an occasional rare sea
ofter from a rapidly declining population, are
discussed in a later chapter.

Although the years before the gold rush
offer no define records of shipwrecks near
the Channel Islands, they are also a period for
which records are likely to be scanty,
unresearched, or missing.  Many vessels,
particularly during the Spanish period, were
smuggling  and  conducting  other  illegal
business.  Vessels of the ume requently
sought refuge from southeasters by leaving
maintand harbors and sailing 1o the islands,
and some might have wrecked in the area.
How many undocumented wrecks are there at
Channel Islands National Park?  There is a
definite possibility of encountering wreckage



that has left no documentation whatever, and
this wreckage could very easily relate to the
period before the goid rush.

Gold Rush

The historical events of the California
gold rush and its impacts are discussed at
length in Kemble (1943). In terms of the local
area around the Channel Islands, the hide and
tallow trade, which provided raw materials for
leather goods manufactured in New England,
was augmented by a steady stream of steamers
plying the Panama route, easily the most
popular way to reach California's gold fields
before the completion of the first
transcontinental railroad in 1869. Operations
on this route by the Pacific Mail Steamship
Company had begun in 1848, As this
company and its competitors grew, ships'
captains emphasized speed:; it is no great
surprise that shipwrecks occurred in this trade.

One ship, the Winfield Scor, is known to
have wrecked in the Channel Islands during
the gold-rush period, and debris from another,
the Yankee Blade, may have washed up on
island beaches.

Winfield Scort
1850-1853
Side-wheel Passenger Steamer

Gross Tonnage 1,291 tons

Net Tonnage —

Length 225 feet

Beam 34 feet, 8 inches
Depth 29 feet, 2 inches
Decks three

Official Number ---

Construction wood, metal bracing
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Historical Record

James Delgado (1982) has fully researched
and reported the historical events surrounding
the last voyage of this vessel, a National
Register property. The following is a short
summary of Delgado's work.

The New York firm of Westervelt and
MacKay built the Winfield Scorr in 1850,
naming the vessel for the commanding general
of the U.S. Army, hero of the Mexican War,
and presidential nomince. The Winfield Scort
was launched on October 27, 1850, and began
operations on the route between New Orleans
and New York. With the beginning of 1852,
the Winfield Scott became part of the recently
formed New York and San Francisco
Steamship Line. The Winfield Scort's transit
from New York to San Francisco via Rio de
Janeiro and Cape Horn—less than 49
days—set a record for that route (Delgado
1982:8). The vessel embarked upon the
coastal run between San Francisco and
Panama in April 1852, usually traveling
overcrowded. The loss of the Tennessee, a
Pacific Mail Steamship Company vessel,
caused that company to purchase the Winfieid
Scott in July 1853.

The Winfield Scott departed San Francisco
upon its last voyage on December 1, 1853,
with a full load of passengers and a shipment
of gold bullion. Selecting the Santa Barbara
Channel rather than a passage outside the
islands in an effort to save time, Captain
Simon F. Blunt entered the passage as a fog
developed. Evidently intending to steam
between Anacapa and Santa Cruz islands, the
Winfield Scort piled into Middle Anacapa
Istand at full speed, probably around 10 krnots,
at eleven o'clock that evening (Delgado
1982:14). Amid general confusion, a boat was
launched and located a nearby
landing place. The entire ship's company,



more than 300 persons, left the vessel that
evening for a small pinnacle 200 yards
offshore from Anacapa Island (Delgado
1982:14). The following morning, the ship's
boats transferred the group to the island
proper. There a temporary Camp sheltered
most of the group for the next week. The
majority of the passengers left on December
10, when the California plucked them from
the beach and took them on their way to
Panama.

The ship's company remained on the
island for two more days, concentrating on
recovery of the mail and bappage carried
aboard. They also recovered some furniture
and "smali portions of machinery" (Delgado
1982:16). Other salvors removed foodstults
and other ifems. Captain Horatio  Gates
Trussell of Santa Barbara salvaged wood that
became incorporated into the home now
preserved as the Trussell-Winchester Adobe,
which also contains two brass thresholds from
the ship.

Major salvage took place in 1894 {rom the
San Pedro, operated by Captain Maginn and
Colonel Baker. The operation removed
several hundred large copper bolts and much
of the iron machinery, blasting it into
managcable pieces. Additional iron and brass
were salvaged during World War 1 (Delgado
1982:19). today
popular dive site, often favored for beginning
recreational divers, and sport divers n recent
years have been attracted to the wreck by the
recovery of gold coins. Park officials have
tocused their efforts, with some success, on
prosecuting violations of antiguity faws that
now protect the wreek scatler.

Al N, S ¥ 723 & 1o
The wiecck scatter 1S 4

Archeolopical Record

Reviewing the coast where the Winfield
Scoir wreeked, i0 scems  clear  that the
passengers and Ccrew camped at Frenchy's
Cove, the only reasonable landing on the
entire north coast of Anacapa Island. Which
rock sheltered them on the first night is more
problematical. A sieep pinnacle near the site is
often indicated as being this shelters landing
the entire company there docs not seem
possible—not only are its sides vertical, but
there hardly seems room. A more likely rock
650 yards west of the wreck scatter offers far
more rtoom and much easier landing
opportunites.

The visible remains of the Winfield Scotl

(Figure 3.1) bunch behind a large rock just off

Middle Anacapa. The wreck scatter is quite
small for that of a 225-fool vessel,  Indeed,
most of the material is propulsion machinery
(Figure 3.2), located about amidships on the
vessel. Items relating to the bow and stern are
absent.

While the first impression the wreck gives
{o many is that ol an aimless scatier, there is,
in fact, considerable organization to the visible
remaings of the vessel. The largest and most
obvious picce of wreckage is the shaft for
what is usually interpreted as the port paddle
wheel. This is the only picce that stands up
above the bottom to any extent at all. Around
the shaft are the remains of the paddle wheel,

including fixtures for scveral floats, or
paddies.  Immediately to the south 18 &

massive piece that would have supported this
shaft in a huge saddle.
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Figure 3.1. Wreckage of the Winfield Scott.
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Iigure 3.2. Crosshead from the
Winfield Scoir. NPS photo by
Dan Lenihan.

Figure 3.3 Brass  drifi
projecting from hull [ragment
near keel on the Winfield Scoit.
NPS photo by Bob McKeever.




To the west can be found a circular
structure, the base of one of the vessel's
boilers. Between the paddle wheel and its
support lic a line of massive bronze drifts and
a section of the outer hull, complete with
copper sheathing. Slightly to the south cluster
the fragments of yet another paddle wheel, this
one lacking its shaft. Clustered nearby are
several pieces of relatively undamaged copper
sheathing plates, typically protruding from
beneath pieces of wreckage or concretion on
the seabed. The arrangement of these
sheathing plates suggests that a piece of hull
about 100 feet in length les on the seabed,
weighed down by the midships machinery
(Figure 3.3).

The boiler base, paddle wheels, hull
fragment, and paddle-wheel support lie in a
structurally correct relationship to one
another, except for the boiler's lying astern of
the paddle shell machinery. All major pieces
are correctly related to one another if the hull
fragment twisted around about 180 degrees as
the vessel came to rest on the seabed, perhaps
pivoting about the large rock that lies north of
the wreck scatter. Shifts of this type also
occurred in the wrecks of the Cuba and the
Aggi, as will be seen later.

Yankee Blade
1851-1854
Side-wheel Passenger Steamer
Gross Tonnage 1,767 tons
Net Tonnage -
274 feet, 5 inches

Length

Beam 34 feet

Depth 21 feet, 7 inches
Decks

Official Number —

Construction wood

Histeorical Record

On October 1, 1854, the Yankee Blade
wrecked in the fog at Honda, near Point
Arguello, foreshadowing the wreck of many
more vessels in the years to come. Why is
this wreck discussed in an account of Channel
Islands shipwrecks? — As will be amply
demonstrated in several other wreck accounts,
the northwest currenis evidently carried
several pieces of the Yankee Blade to island
beaches.

At the time of the wreck of the Yankee
Blade, 1 was living on the island of
Santa Rosa, in the employ of my
uncle, A. B. Thompson. One day
while riding on the northwest end of
the island, T found a number of pieces
of cabin furniture, also cases of lard,
and saw many pieces far out in the
kelp. The next day, very early, I took
a whale boat from the west harbor and
a man with me, and went up to the
head of the island. On the way up to
the kelp, we picked up a chest of
medical books, and a trunk or two
with nothing in them of value. This
was, I think, in 1854, Supposing a
steamer to be wrecked somewhere
near, the next day we went up to the
head of San Miguel to see if we could
make any discoveries of a wreck, but
of course found nothing. . . . The
most valuable wood work of the
Yankee Blade that we picked up was a
carved eagle which came off of the
paddie-box.  This relic is now an
ornament in the theater here {letter to
editor from D. W. Thompson, SBDP,
March 17, 1881].



The "carved eagle” referred to is often
attributed to the Winfield Scott. The theater in
question is the Lobero. This account indicates
that wreckage from other vessels that wrecked
along the central coast might also be expected
to wash up on the islands, particularly on the
north coasts of Santa Rosa and San Miguel.

Archeological Record

The preceding historical account suggests
that fragments of the Yankee Blade might be
expected along the north side of Santa Rosa
Island.  Island archeological survey has
located SRI-91-75, a Chinese abalone camp,
which contains burned beams from an iron-
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fastened wooden vessel. This site is located
close to Sandy Point, the west end of Santa
Rosa Island, along the southwest coast.
Included in the material are small copper
nails, quite comparable to the sheathing nails
recorded from the Winfield Scotr, a vessel
very similar to the Yankee Blade. Evidently
the wreckage in question may have carried
copper hull sheathing. While this hardly
constitutes  definitive  identification, the
material might reasonably be thought to have
come from the Yankee Blade. A metallurgical
analysis of nails from the Yankee Blade, the
Winfield Scotr, and the Santa Rosa site might
settle the question.






CHAPTER 1V

Wrecked and Grounded

Commercial Vessels

The nineteenth century saw a huge

expansion of maritime trade and an
unprecedented number of increasingly
seaworthy vessels traveling the seas. Ocean

travel was still hazardous, however, and many
vessels came to grief. San Francisco, which
had overnight become a major seaport during
the gold rush, continued its prominence,
especially in the shipping of grain to foreign
ports. Coastwise shipping developed as well,
moving both freight and passengers to
southern Catifornia ports.  The northern
Channel Islands present an obstacle course to

commercial shipping that has claimed
numerous vessels.

Between 1892 and 1962, five large vessels
wrecked within what are now the park
boundaries, and between 1908 and 1954, six
others grounded and eventually worked free.
In this chapter, we discuss these 11 disasters
in chronological order. Two of the wrecked
ships, the Goldenhorn and the Aggi, were
sailing vessels, while all the cthers were
steamships. No wooden vessels are
represented in this group. Table 4.1 is a

summary list of the vessels.

Table 4.1. Wrecked and Grounded Commercial Vessels

Vessel Date Wrecked
Goldenhorn September 12, 1892
Crown of England November 6, 1854
Aggi May 3, 1915

Cuba September 8, 1923
Chickasaw February 7, 1962
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Cargo Tonnage
coal 1,915
hallast 2,574
grain 1,898
general 3,169
general 6,131




Vessel Daic Grounded

Anubis July 20, 1908
Pectan Janvary 21, 1914
Liebre I'ebruary 28, 1921
Beulah 1933

Aristocratis December 1, 1949
Patria June 21, 1954

For most of these vessels, fog and storm
contributed (o their disaster.  They all
demonstrate the hazards ol dead-reckoning
navigation in restricted visibility. Tive of the
vessels included stops at the port of Los
Angeles (San Pedro) i the itineraries of their
fateful trips. The others were engaged n
coastwise traffic between San Diecgo, Porl San
Luis, and San lrancisco. The vessels not
mvolved with Los Angeles all wrecked on the
outer islands of San Miguel and Santa Rosa.
Outward bound (rom Los Angeles, Licbre and
Beulah prounded brielty on Anacapa, while
Patria and Aristocratis made it all the way to
Santa Rosa before grounding in the shoals ol
the cast end and at Johnson's Lee.

Five of the vessels regularly carried bulk
cargoes. The Goldenhorn and the Crown of
Enpgland carried coal, the Aggi carvicd grain,
mostly barley, and the Pecran and the Liebre
carricd oil.  The other vessels carried general
cargoes—coffee, plywood, plastic toys, and
the like. The Cuba camed a  large
complement ol passengers (112), while the
Chickasaw, primarily a freighter, had four
paying customers on its last voyage.

Both the Chickasaw and the Aggi wrecked
as a result of truly bad winier southeasters,
while the Goldenhorn and the Crown of
England ran afoul of a combination of strong
Davidson Current conditions and heavy fog
during the fall.

Cargo Tonnage
general 4,763
ballast 7,318
oil 7.057
ballast 1,389
coal 7,191
coal 7,217

The losses of these five large ships were
all the subjects of investigations and inguiries,
most of which fixed the cause of the wreck on
sea and weather conditions: in the case of the
Cuba, the wreck was blamed on the actions of
a subordinate officer.

Goldernhorn
1883-1892
[Four-masted Bark, Bulk Cargo Carrier

1,914.78 tons
1,838.83 tons

Gross Tonnage
Net Tonnage

l.ength 268 feet, 6 nches
Beam 40 feet, 2 mches
Depth 23 feet, 7 inches
Declks WO
Official Number 36279
Construction irorn
Historical Record
Rossell and Company  of  Greenock,

Scotland, built the Goldenhorn for J. R, de
Woll and Son in 1883. FHome port for the
Goldenhorn was Liverpool, The Goldenhorn
was ihe second of three sister ships, preceded
by the Matterhorn in 1882 and followed by
the Sitherhorn in 1884, These three vessels
were bullt to the same plan, with relatively
minor improvements effected i the later
VEIsSIions., Originally ship rigged, the



Goldenhorn became a bark by 1886. The
Silberhorn vanished at sea in 1907; the
Matterhorn foundered off Umatilla Reef,
Oregon in 1909.

The Goldenhorn was a typical medium
clipper (Lubbock 1927:244), a vessel only
slightly slower than the classic extreme clipper
ship of the 1850s and 1860s but considerably
more capacious. Medium clippers were not as
large, however, as vessels constructed later in
the nineteenth century. A typical capacity for
these medium clippers was 1,800 tons,
whereas later vessels ranged up to 8,000 tons
(Allen 1978:21). A bark rig, with a fourth
(jigger) mast rigged fore and aft, in contrast to
the square sails on the three forward masts,
improved maneuverability and did not require
as large a crew. Ships like the Goldenfiorn
show a workable accommodation of speed,
cargo capacity, and ease and economy of
operation.

The accounting records, or "cost book,”
for the Goldenhorn have survived and provide
detailed information about the specifics of the
"No. 60 ship.” Five hundred and seventeen
blocks of various sizes, all specified, were
consumed in rigging the vessel, along with
four mast-head trucks, two deep-sea reels, one
log reel, and two ship's logs. The
Goldenhorn came equipped with three
Rodger's anchors (Figure 4.1) and three
considerably lighter ordinary anchors with
more than 200 fathoms of anchor chain.
Rodger's anchors, developed about 1830,
were stronger than traditional anchors by a
virtue of a wood core shank. There were
three main varieties of this anchor.

Listed accessories include a 12-inch brass
bell engraved "Goldenhorn," a smaller 6-inch
bell, four ship's boats, "one handsome cabin
stove," a stove for the forecastle, a 6-foot
cooking range, lightning conductors, at least
11 compasses, a "brass sounding machine,” a
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brass foghorn, a brass speaking trumpet, nine
gimbeled oil lamps, and a fire engine with
hose. There were weapons as well—a 6-
pounder line gun on carriage, 25 breech-
loading rifles with bayonets, 12 boarding
pikes, two Colt revolvers, and appropriate
ammunition. Moreover, the list includes
handcuffs and leg irons, 12 large rockets, and
12 blue lights for distress signhals.

Also detailed are the carpenter stores: cut
nails, copper nails, oakum, portland cement,
deck bolts, and rivets. Amenities included
bedding, cutlery, glass, and crockery.
Suppliers equipped the Goldenhorn with flags,
canvas, medicine chest supplies, mirrors,
water casks, buckets (including 10 brass fire
buckets), and ropes and hawsers ranging in
size from 4-inch steel hawsers to whipping
twine and marline.

The iron plates, angles, and bulb stock
that compose the ship are listed along with the
keel, stem, sternpost, and rudder forgings, 86

Rodger's (Bower)

©, JQ oF
< |

Cwt, grs. 1bs
Weight of Anchor 19 0 8
Weight of Stock 5 2 14

Textal

Figure 4.1. Rodger's anchor.




hold stanchions, and eight hold ladders.
Rivets are itemized in sizes from 5/8 to 7/8
inch,  Tradesmen working on the vessel
included  fitters  and  platers,  riveters,
carpenters, smiths, caulkers, hole borers,
joiners, laborers, painters, polishers, and a
plumber who installed two single-valve water
closets, one hopper water closet, and two iron
urinals.

LEven an iron ship has many wood
components. ‘lo build the Goldenhorn, 102
logs of yellow pine, 40 logs of teak, and
smaller amounts of pitch pine, red pine,
mahogany, American  e¢lm, "E. Elm,"
fernheart, veneers, sparring, deals, flooring,
and spruce spars were used.

Finally the Goldenhorn was faunched on
January 9, 1883:

As the vessel glided off the ways into
her element, she was christened the
Goldenhorn by Mrs. Roger, wife of
one of the Dircctors of the firm of
Russel and Co. . . . There was a large
company at the launch and at the cake
and wine service alterwards the usual
toasts were  proposed  |Greenock
Telegraph and Greenock Advertiser,
1883].

The cost book records the expenditure of
four pounds, sixpence, t "J B Morrisons for
luncheon” under the heading "Launch
Expenses. "

According to Lioyd's Regisiry of 1891, the
Goldenhorn rated "-F00AL" the highest
possible rating, and carried a crew of 26. Al
least one photograph exists of the working
vessel (Thigure 4.2).

Wreck

On its last voyage, the Goldenhorn hauled
coal from Newcastle, New South Wales,
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Australia, to San Pedro, California, for
eventual use by the Southern Pacilic Railroad
(Haller 1986:29). Although details of
previous  voyages  ar¢e  unknown, the
Goldenhorn probably would have departed
California with a load of grain for European
ports.

The Goldenhorn wrecked on offshore
rocks along the southwest coast of Santa Rosa
Island on the evening of September 12, 1892.
Sailing in heavy fog, the vessel was unable to
maneuver away from the island when the wind
failed and the current carried it to shore. Al
the board of inquiry hearing held later in the
month, Captain Dunn stated that by dead
reckoning he placed himself 15 miles from the
gast part of Santa Rosa Island. Land was seen
at 6:00 r.M. and was estimated io be 14 miles
away. Driven by a strong current and a heavy
swell and hindered by dense fog, the vessel
struck at 8:10 p.m. (LAT, September 20,
1892). It struck bow first, although by the
time the crew had taken fo boats, "she was
completely putted aft.”  After the vessel
struck, soundings showed 6 fathoms on the
port side and 4.5 on the starboard (LA,
September 20, 1892). The crew abandoned
all personal effects on the vessel, eventually
rowing to Santa Barbara via Becher's Bay in
the two 25-foot  ship's boats (SBMP,
Seplember 15, 1892).

When the British vice-consul in Los
arrived at Santa

Angeles, Mr., Mortimer,

Barbara to head the board of inquiry, he "paid
off the men of the Goldenhorn giving cach
man his choice to either stop at Santa Barbara
or be sent to the nearest port where he would
be likely to find an opportunity to ship home™
(LAT, September 16, 1892). A wecek later the
Times reported: A petition is in circulation
to raisc a purse for Captain Dunn of the
wrecked vessel Goldenhorn, The captain lost
cverything in the loss of the vessel” (LA,



Figure 4.2. Goldenhorn at anchor, unknown location. Photo by W A, Scott courtesy, of San

Francisco Maritime NHP.

September 23, 1892). A local tradition holds
that several of the crew settled in the Santa
Barbara area (Wheeler and Kallman 1986),
although local newspapers record that all the

crew left town a few weeks after the wreck.
four
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members of the crew, including the first and
second mates, corroborated the captain's
statements and testified that the "influence of
liguor" was not a factor in the wreck. The
board exonerated Captain Dunn and the crew,
calling attention to strong uncharted currents
in the area.

The very evening the shipwrecked crew of
the Goldenhorn arrived in Santa Barbara, the
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schooner Genovia set out for the wreck,
returning two days later with the report that
"her stern is caved in and the upheaval of the
cargo has splintered the deck in many places
and the whole aspect is one of ruin and

" Some salvage is known to have

occurred. The schooner Ruby brought back
some rigging saved from the wreck on
September 20 (LAT, September 21, 1892),
reporting that the vessel was broken in two
between the fore- and mainmasts. By
September 22, all the crew but the captain had
departed Santa Barbara (SBMP, September
22, 1892). By September 25 (LAT), the

wreck had been sold to a San Francisco firm

destruction
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and the Ruby had returned with three anchors,
ropes, and sails from the wreck. Some ol the
proceeds of the sale of these items were going
{0 help the unfortunate Captain Dunn. Soon a
salvage twyp from San Prancisco blew up some
of the hull with powder and presumably
salvaged the scrap.  The Samia Barbura
Morning Press reported on November 2,

1892, that the vessel had  “"completely
collapsed.”
Although the  vessel was  abandoned

quickly, ihe published sources clearly show
that the wreck was wvisited on numerous
occasions and that many items were removed,
mostly those that were easily recovered and
broadly uscful.  We can be sure much
cquipment came off the wreck that was not
mentioned  in the  newspaper  accounts.
Structural material may have been removed in
1894 when the San Pedro worked the wreck
of the Winfield Scort and the Gosford at Point
Conception.

Archeological Record

The wreck scatter ol the Goldenhorn
(Figure 4.3) lics in relatively shallow waier
off the southwest coast of Santa Rosa Island,
surrounded by rocks and shoals that pose a
significant hazard for vessels attempting 1o
anchor directly over the broken vessel, Wave
action has flaitened and shattered the vessel's
hull and ground it down into prominent rocks.
When mapping of the wreckage began in
1985, Bill Yznaca, captain of the Truth at that
iime, commented that what the charts show as
a wash rock in the vicinity of the Goldenhorn
may have been a portion of the wreckage that
was among ihe last to be tlattened.

[i is clear that portions of the wreek have
slipped away during the years.  Absent arce
brass and other yellow metal fittings in places
where such items should occur, such as the
cap of the anchor capstan ncar the bow of the

vessel.  Glenn Miller, who discovered the
wreckage in the 1960s, recovered brass
nameplaies from the vessel that gave ais
identity (Don Coclho, personal
commmnunication).  Much anchor chain is
missing, among other items.  Yet a great deal
of all parts of the vessel remains, including
quantitics of the wire rigging.

The largest single piece of the vessel is an
83-fool section of botiom hull, which ig
virtually flat, with no noticeable deadrise.
The hul! is broken ac the turn of the bilge on
both sides. There is an I-beam centerline
keelson, two side keelsons of 'I-bulb bar
stock, and two bilge keelsons constructed of
the same material as the side keelsons. The
side keelsons have inlercostat plates; the
centerline and bilge keelsons do not.  The
floor frames (Figure 4.4) arc on 2-loot
centers, and hull stanchion sockets are located
on every fourth frame, either between the
centerling and side keelsons or between the
side and bilge keelsons. A mast  siep,
probably for the jiggermast (Figure 4.5), 1s set
on the centerline keelson.

To the west and farther offshore n
slightly deeper water are fragments of the
stern.  The stern section lies on its starboard
side with the jiggermast step and hold
stanchion on the centerline keetson.  Floor
frames remain below the keelson, still fixed to
the solid keel of the ship. The presence ol the
mast step indicates this section of the vessel is
from that portion of the hull forward of the
deep floors that are just forward of ihe
sternpost.  The rudder post with the bow of
the rudder, rudder trunk, stuffing box, and
tiller attached tie near the stern hull seetion.
The rudder was apparently wood with an iron
frame (Paasch 1901).

Close by is the patent steering gear, minus
the wheel, which is said to have been removed
by divers. In the cost book, this Is described
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33



Figure 4.5. Jiggermast step of the Goldenhorn. NPS photo by Larry Murphy.
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as "ome set improved screw steering pear
having spindle 5 inch diameter Mal iron
crosshead, cast iron backstand and topper with
black connecting rods, brass bushing
backstand and swivel bush." There are also
fragments of iron decking and boat davits in
the area. Except for 20 to 30 feet of collapsed
bow, no more hull bottom appears, other than

the major picce discussed above, so about half

of the hull bottom of this vessel has been
found. Most of the missing hull would have
been forward of the mainmast, the very area
where the vessel broke initially.  About 130
feet of hull side occur in the mapped
wreckage.  Roughly 430 feet of hull side
remain unlocated.

A 60-toot section of port side hull lies in
slightly shallower water inshore and east of
the main piece. There are two stringers
between the bilge line and the main deck level.
The two stringers are constructed similarly to
the side keelsons, The side frames are
channel bar stock. This piece of hull side
contains attached deck beams and deck shelf.
There arc diagona) tic plates of flat stock
above the deck beams. The main deck was
open or possibly decked with wood. There is
also a hwll section that could be from the
starboard side of the vessel. A 12- o 15-1ool
section contains  articulated  knees,  deck,
bulwarks, and cap rail. This scction appears
broken at the main deck level.

In this general vicinity, probably near the
location of the galley, a number of bricks can
be found. One brick, recovered from a wreck
thief in 1987, bore ihe inscription "Glenboig,”
identifying it as a product of the Glenboig
Brick Company in Glenboig, Scotland, a small
community near Glasgow (Gurcke 1987).
Surprisingly, no fire bricks are listed in the
cost book for the Goldenhorn, nor is there a
record of any transaction with the Glenboig
Brick Company. Perhaps these bricks were

incorporated into the "galley stove, complete”
that was installed in the vessel.  Mortar
adhering to these bricks indicates that they
were part of the vessel and not simply cargo.

Stll farther inshore lics the bow section
with the cutwater laid over with the starboard
side of the bow turned up, clearly showing a
single port side hawsehole. This is the most
evident picce of exterior hull plating extant in
the wreckage. Nearby lies one of two
capstans  mentioned  in the cost  book.
Prominent here are three large fragments of
the foremast, including the lower trestle tree
and the lower yard with truss (Figure 4.6).
Also present is one of the catheads and an iron
section of deck with a hole for the foremast.

Goldenhorn's mast, truss and

Figure 4.6.
lower yard. NPS photo by Larry Murphy.



Considerable wire rigging remains snarled
and tangled about the wreck, along with
fragments of masts. Yards occur in the
vicinity of all masts except the jigger. A
boom for this mast was not located, nor has
the fourth mast or its step been found. Given
what we know about salvage activities just
after the wreck, it is likely that the jigger
boom was removed, as it would have been
readily usable on local schooners.

Additional material from the Goldenhorn
has turned up along the nearby shore of Santa
Rosa Island as a result of recent archeological
surveys. A prominent stockpile of coal
perches on a coastal terrace 1 kilometer
southeast of the main wreck scatter. The
individual pieces of coal are rounded by wave
action, which would have occurred as the
cargo spilled out of the vessel and tumbled
onshore. This stockpile lies close to black
abalone shell middens and two other stockpiles
of lumber, all suggestive of Chinese-American
abalone fishing activity.  Since Chinese
fishermen used long tongs to obtain abalone,
it would have been a very simple matter to
grab the new fuel source represented by the
Goldenhorn's cargo. The timbers in these two
stockpiles also seem to derive from
Goldenhorn. They are fresh and unworn, still
containing patches of paint. Plugged fastener
holes suggest that most of these pieces are
wooden trim. Two pieces are fragmentary
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down for a platform at another site on the
island about half a mile away.
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Crown of England
1891-1894
Cargo Steamship (Collier)

Gross Tonnage 2,574 tons
Net Tonnage 1,608 tons
Length 297 feet
Beam 40.1 feet
Depth 19.0 feet
Decks one

Official Number 99115
Construction steel and iron

Historical Record

Quite new at the time of its demise, the
Crown of England contained many modern
features, not the least of which were its triple-
expansion engines manufactured by Blair &
Company, which could develop 200
horsepower. Richardson, Duck and
Company, Stockton, England, built the vessel
with web frames designed to hold water
ballast and a partial awning deck 176 feet long
above the main deck. Lloyd's rated it at
"+ 100A1," the highest possible rating
(Lioyd's Registry 1892-1893).

Registered at Belfast, the Crown of
England was executing a 6-month contract to
haul coal from Nanaimo, British Columbia, to
San Diego, California, in 1894. The vessel
finished discharging cargo on November 5 and
departed the following day in ballast on the
return trip. Thick fog restricted visibility and
no navigational fixes were available after




leaving port. The captain navigated on dead
reckoning throughout the voyage, attempting
to follow a course that would take the vessel
outside, or south of the Channel Islands.

Although a lookout was maintained and
speed was cut in half to 4 knots at 15 minutes
before midnight, the vessel struck rocks just as
the watch spotted them and gave the alanm.
Reversing the engines merely caused the
vessel 1o sctile decper. Over the next few
hours, the waves and current pivoted the
vessel 1o starboard, or cast, tearing large holes
in the starboard hull. As day broke, the crew
could at last determine that they were on an
island, rather than on an isolated rock.  The
vessel had wrecked at Ford Point on the south
coast of Santa Rosa {sland. A scarch of the
istand during the day by crew members failed
to locate any inhabitants. Lventually, first
officer John Poole and a crew of tive rowed to
Santa Monica, giving word of the wreck after
arriving on the morning of November 1
(LAT, November 22, 1894).

The tug Fearless departed San Francisco
and reached the scenc on November 15,
finding the Crown of England in very bad
condition. The Times described il as:

A total wreck.  She lies broadside
against the shore and her bottom is full
of holes made by pounding on the
rocks. When Capt. Haskell [skipper
of the Fearless| visited her . he
could put 4 plank from the shore to the
steamer's bow and walk aboard. . . .
It will take a very short time to break
the vessel in picces [LAT, November
16, 1894].

A court of inguiry into the accident
convened ar Santa Monica on November 20,
headed by the Honorable C. White Mortimer,

British vice-consul, who had also performed
this role for the Goldenhorn wreck. The court
heard from Captain John Hamilton, #irst
Officer John Poole, Second Officer James
McGeorge, First Iingincer Robert Mclattey,
Third Engineer John Clark, and seamen
Michael McLaughlin and Limil Smuth, who
had been helmsman and fookout, respectively,
at the time of the grounding (LAT, November
22, 1894).

Captain A. Smith of San Pedro discussed
the erratic nature of currents around the
islands and the fact that sailors find strong
currents running in the opposite direction. e
blamed the accident on this contrary current
and stated he would have followed the same
course as Captain Hamilton because "a fog
never stops the sicamboat” (LA'T, November
21, 1894).

The final witness, Second Officer E. O.
Parsons of the passenger steamer Corona,
gave (he board (he following graphic
description of what was surely a fully
developed Davidson Current:

On the boat's voyage to San Diego,
undertaken  November 2, it
encountered a strong current, tending
northward, which was estimated . . .
to flow two and one-fourth knols per
hour, and from Port Harford [San
Luis Obispo] to Santa Barbara it

ol

retarded  the b

1R
running time of less than nime hours to
more than ninc and a half. [t was
noticed as particularly strong off Santa
Barbara [slands. While at San Diego
defendant went on board the Crown of
England 10 warn the Captain of the
current, but did not lfind him on
board. The Corona left San Dicgo
Noventber 5th and ran in a current all
the way to San Francisco. [t was so
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strong a current that from Port Harford
to the Cliff House, San Francisco, it
ran the boat ahead of her log twelve
and one-fourth miles.

A strong Davidson Current would have set
the Crown of England toward Santa Rosa
Island on the outside track that Captain
Hamilton was attempting to steer.

By the end of the month, plans were afoot
to salvage the vessel, as the Lloyd's surveyor
had reported the cost of towing the vessel to
San Francisco excessive. The California Iron
and Wrecking Company, despite having
recently lost its salvage vessel San Pedro
while working on the wreck of the Gosford at
Point Conception, entered into an agreement
to break up the Crown of England and bring
the wreckage to San Francisco. In early
December,  matters  apparently  were
progressing well

Henry J. Rogers of the California Iron
and Wrecking Company, arrived here
yesterday afterncon on the tug Katie
O'Neill tfrom Santa Rosa Island where
the company has three boats and about
forty men engaged in saving the
machinery from the wrecked steamship
Crown of England. He reports good
progress. They have already
recovered the main engines, steam
hoists, steering gear, anchors, chains,
and a great deal of other valuable
material. The schooner Annie is being
loaded with the machinery and if good
weather continues, will be able to
carry a large cargo to San Francisco.
After the machinery is carefully
removed, the vessel will be broken up
and all the iron saved [SBNP,
December 5, 1894].
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Judging from the wreck site of the Crown
of England today, that is exactly what
happened. The loss of the San Pedro may
have been of no consequence to the salvage
company in this operation, as the Crown of
England was so close to Ford Point that
salvage could proceed easily from the island.

Archeological Record

Ford Point is a low, gently rounded
peninsula on the south side of Santa Rosa
Island. It provides one of the few flat
locattons along this stretch of coast, and a
small sandy bay immediately to the east
provides an excellent landing spor.

For years Ford Point has been
distinguishable by the presence of a steam
donkey engine (Figure 4.7) from the Crown of
England on the seaward edge of the terrace.
At one time the top of the boiler of this engine
was even marked as a U.S. Coast and
Geodetic  benchmark. Apparently the
salvagers had moved the donkey engine ashore
and employed it for hauling salvage material
from the wreck.

Next to the engine Le two spars, each
suitable for service as a stiff leg or boom to
move material ashore. Fragments of thick
wire cable, often with spliced eyes, poke up
through the usually thick grass near the
donkey engine. Inland sits a massive iron
stove, certainly from the galley of the Crown
of England, on a level area of the terrace that
would make an ideal camp site for the salvage
crew. These artifacts are all remnants of the
salvage operation carried out on the Crown of
England during the winter of 1894.

In May 1990, Dr. Bruce Hector and the
senior author spent three days mapping the
visible artifacts. Reasoning that the grass



concealed many smaller items, Hector brought
along a metal dewector.  Some metal pleces

were located in the intertidal zone with the
metal detector while the team was skin diving
in the area from the donkey engine around
Ford Point to the sandy beach just to the east.

Figure 4,7. 'This rusting donkey engine is the
most obvious remains of the steamship Crown
of England, Ford Point, Santa Rosa [sland.
NPS photo by Don Morris.

[n addition, the arca offshore has been
searched whenever possible by teams in scuba
pear or by what is jokingly called the BAIT
technique— "Buoyant/Bewildered/Beginnin g
(Choose at Least One) Archeologist in

Tow"--which utilizes an inflatable boat (o ow
an investigator in snorke!l gear over a search
arca. The water in the vicinity of Ford Point
does not exceed a depth of 40 feet, so diving
is relatively simple, but the area near the
donkey engine is frequently very rough,
particularly when the south swell is running,
Diving close to shore, where most of the
wreckage located so far has been found, 18
often impractical.

The largest piece of wreckage 18 a very
large anchor lying at about 30 feet deep, with
associated anchor chain extending  straight
offshore from the donkey engine. Closer in to
the shore lies a 10-foot piece of tubular pipe
about 8 inches in diameter, along with three or
four I, beams and some small pieces of steel
plating. No large pieces, such as frames or
the keelson, of the Crown of England remain
in the area.

On shore, the area along the edge of the
ferrace contains small picees of steel plating
and fragments of steel rivets. The area around
the galley stove yielded, in addition to pieces
of the stove itselt, glass, crockery, the one
metallic cartridge found, and some wire
insulators that appear to be radio gear dating
from the 1930s and [940s. Al of this
material sugpgests camp debris, as opposed (o
the stockpile of salvage malerial clustered near
the shore. A trail of bolts and scrap leads
from the arca near the donkey engine
northeast 1o a steep slope that leads down to
the eastern beach. This would be a logical
place from which to load the salvaged scrap,
because the surf is much less turbulent here. A
few pieces of iron plate located by the metal
detector offshore from this beach probably
represent small pieces that fell off during
removal to a ship anchored offshore.



Anubis
1898-1908 +
Cargo Steamer

Gross Tonnage 4,763 tons
Net Tonnage 3,897 tons
Length 382 feet
Beam 48.2 feet
Depth 26.2
Decks two
Official Number -
Construction steel

Historical Record

J. L. Thompson & Sons of Sunderland,
England, built the Anubis, ex-Luciana. The
Kosmos Line of Hamburg, Germany, owned
and operated the ship. A triple-expansion
engine powered the vessel, which had electric
lighting (Haller and Kelly 1987).

On the trip during which the Anubis
grounded on San Miguel Island--a passage
from Tacoma, Washington, to Hamburg—the
vessel had already experienced misfortune. In
San Francisco, three crewmen were detained
by United States authorities for an assault on
Chief Officer Johannes Dohrn; and while
departing San Francisco, the Anubis missed
colliding with the steamer Cecil by a mere 10
feet (San Pedro Daily Pilor, July 21 and July
30, 1908). More was to come.

On July 20, 1508, the vessel stranded near
San Miguel Island, off course due to a faulty
compass and fog. Some early newspaper
accounts and one of the two wreck reports for
the Anubis located the wreck site "on a reef of
death between Santa Rosa and San Miguel
Islands" (San Pedro Daily News, July 21,
1908), but the stranding actually occurred
between Castle Rock (Flea Island) and San
Miguel Island. The Anubis grounded less than
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2 miles away from the lumber schooner JM
Colman, which wrecked three years earlier.

The Anubis struck the rock at 12:15
o'clock Monday morning, while
running at eight knots through a heavy
tog. For a mile before the disaster,
the keel moved through a bed of kelp.
Captain Von Salzen was asleep at the
time. He had left word that he should
be called if fog was encountered, but
this order was disobeyed. . . . The
accident is directly attributable to the
fact that the ship's compass was
defective. . . . There was a panic on
board following the crash as the crew
thought there had been an explosion
of dynamite, a large quantity of which
was stored in the hold. A few pieces
of this did explode, but did no damage
as compared with that which followed
the terrific impact of the ship against
the rock [Los Angeles Examiner, July
23, 1908].

Captain Von Salzen, once he had decided
that the vessel was hard aground, dispatched
First Mate Dohrn, Third Mate Karl Loewe,
and seven seamen to seek help. The lifeboat
landed at Point Conception, wrecking in the
surf. The lighthouse keeper there telegraphed
for tugs from San Francisco, San Pedro,
Redondo, and Port Harford [San Luis Obispo]
(San Pedro Daily News, July 22, 1508).
Several vessels responded, including the
Charm, from "Vaviota" (Gaviota, near Santa
Barbara), the Redondo, from Redondo Beach,
and, eventually, the revenue cutter Manning.

First reports stated that the Anubis would
be a total loss. Only Captain Von Salzen
remained aboard the wreck while the rest of
the crew camped on Flea Island, about three-
quarters of a mile to the southwest of the




wreck. Kelp surrounding the vessel hindered
access by rescuers. Quantities of the varied
cargo were jettisoned in order to lighien the
vessel.
barley, tallow, salmon, syrup, dynamite,
lumber, rice, machinery, and sacks
flour—the latier "thrown over to lighten the
vessel, and this white burden has drifted {or
miles around" (Los Angeles Examiner, July
23, 1908). This evidently is the flour that the
rancher on San Miguel salvaged and uscd {or
many years (Roberts 1978:112). Other
inhabitants of the islands used this flour as
well, and some bags were resold on the
mainfand (Eaton 1980:53-54, 78).

By July 25, the steamer San Diego had
returned to San Pedro with 600 sacks of flour
from the Anubis (Los Angeles Herald, July 26,
1908). Other vessels, including one under the
command of Captain Ira Eaton, removed about
£,800 tons of cargo by the end of the month.
Apparently the swelling of sacked barley in
the lower hold sealed some of the holes
opened up in the grounding. Anubis was
pulled off the rocks, repaired temporarily in
Cuyler Harbor, and returned to San Francisco
by the tug Goliath by August 17.

The accounts of the stranding of this vessel

arc particularly specific about the quaniiiies of

material thrown overboard to refloat the ship.
Much of the jeitisoned cargo was maierial that
would have floated away or not survived.
Heavier material, however, such as (he
"machinery," is likely to remain near the
location of the stranding, particularly since the
rough, rocky sea bottom in this arca would not

allow movement or subsurface subsidence of

heavy items. Spare ships stores, particularly
heavy items such as anchors, could also be
anticipated in the area. Divers have not yet
examined the area for any wreckage or debris
from this mcident, and none is known (o be
attributed to this grounding.

The cargo mcluded 4,000 tons of

of
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Pectan
1902-(1914)-1942
Oil Tanker

7,318 tons
4770 tons

Gross Tonnage
Net Tonnage

Length 471 feet
Beam 55 feet
Depth 32.9 feet
Decks two
Official Number 212911
Construction steel

Historical Record

When built by Shell Oil Company, the
British vessel the Pecian was one of the larger
tankers ol 1ts day, carrying 83,000 barrels. In
photographs, the Pectan (Figure 4.8) presents
a typical three-tsland steamship profile with
forecastle, amidships, and  siern  cabins
projecting above the main deck. Its amidships
bridge and single funnel indicate an amidships
engine room with the propeller shaft running
beneath the aft hold. A single propeller and

rudder  show  promimently in  three
photographs.  One photo shows a catwalk
above tank hatches that connected ihe

forccastle and bnidge.  The Pectan carried
both tanker and conventional cargoes and was
so designed by the original owner, Shell Oil.
Previously, the Pectan had gained fame for
towing the British battleship [IMS Vicrorious
[rom a sandbar in the Suez region (Dunn
1979:40).

Under circumstances that are not too
clear, the Pecran, then owned by Union Oil,
plowed into the sand at Adams Cove, Point
Bennett, San Migue! [sland, within a mile of
the S M Colman and the future resting place of
the Cuba. The Pectan was proceeding in
ballast from Taltal, Chile, to Port San Luis
(San Iuis Obispo, California) to acquire



Figure 4.8. Pectan. Photo courtesy of San Francisco Maritime NHP.

cargo. Either misnavigation or foggy weather
led it to stray onto the beach on January 21,
1914, at 9:30 P.M. Newspapers reported
significant storm damage around southern
California around that date, so fog and stormy
weather probably played their usual role in
grounding the Pectan.

Apparently suffering no damage (LAT),
the Pectan rested easily while waiting for a
high tide on February 10, when it was able to
extricate itself unassisted. In the interim,
several vessels assisted in the rescue. Using
the wireless, the Pectan summoned the Argyle
and the Lansing, also Union Qil tankers, o its
aid. Soon involved were the salvage steamer
laqua and the tug Dauntless, as was the
revenue cutter USS Manning. In attempt on
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January 26 by the Argyle, the Lansing, and yet
another steamship, the Whittier, to reach the
Pectan with a tow line met with no success.

On February 1, the Dauntless steamed to
Ventura for fresh water and food for the
Pectan's crew of 49, with the announced plan
of waiting for the high tide of February 10
(LAT, February 2, 1914). The final report on
the Pectan (LAT, February 12, 1914) relates
that the vessel pulled itself off without any
assistance and "proceeded north to have her
hull thoroughly inspected before returning to
Port San Luis for reloading."”

By 1918, having been renamed the
Coalinga, the vessel passed to American
registry and the ownership of the Union
Steamship Company, whose home port was




San Francisco. Ycars later, bearing the Italian
registry and name Lucania, the vessel was
sunk by a British submarine in February 1942,

The descriptions and photographs of the
vessel's situation clearly show that the Pectan
grounded in Adams Cove, which, while still
sandy today, is hardly devoid of rocks. A
factor that may have aided the Pecran was the
copious quantity of sand on the beachies of San
Miguel, supplied by the extreme erosion on
the island. Indeed, the Los Angeles Times
(February 12, 1914), in discussing this
mcident, states, "The once green island is now
a white bleak stretch of sand eight miles long
and a mile and a halt wide, with only a few
green places where the grass as yet exists.” In
recent years, the beaches on the island have
shrunk  as  revegetation  has  slowed
erosion,

Although the Pectan did not wreek on San
Miguel, there may be considerable debris in
the area where it lay grounded for 18 days,
cither from deliberate attemipts to lighten the
vessel or from madvertent losses.

Aggpi
1894-1915
Three-masted, Full-rigged Ship

1,898 tons
1,756 tons

Gross Tonnage
Net Tonnage

Length 205 feet

Beain 39.1 feei

Depth 23.3 feet

Decks one

Official Number 102136 (as Aspice)
Construction steel
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Historicat Record

Under the Norwegian ownership ol B, A.
Olsen and Son since 1911, the steel-hulied
Aggt (formerly named Seerose, Sant' Erasmo,
and Aspice) had been built in Glasgow,
Scotland, by Mackic & Thomson in 1894
(Fipure 4.9).  As the Aspice, it had been
owned by R. I. Swyny of Liverpool and by T,
Law and Company of Glasgow:; as the Sani’
Erasmo, its home port was Genoa, ltaly,
where 1t was operated by Nav. Gen. [taliana;
and as the Seerose, was operated by T, and T,
Eimbcke of Hamburg, Germany. The Lioyd's
rating was "+ 100A1," indicating eminent
scaworthiness (Figure 4.10),

Constructed 11 years  after  the
Goldenhorn, the Agei was built of steel rather
than iron. Steel offered a better weight-to-
strength ratio and increased cargo capacity at
the expense, some said, of lessened durability
and longevity in salt water.  Steel, being
lighter for a given strength than iron,
produced a more efficient cargo carrier with
stronger masts and spars, and its use improved
the economic position of sailing vessels. The
same improvement  in metallurgy  that
produced cheaper, stronger steel for sailing
vessels also led to ihe development of higher
pressure boilers, the triple-expansion stcam
engine, and the perfection of steamships that
cventually eased  sailing  ships  out  of
commercial service (Greenhill 1980:43-44).

The Aggi deparied San Francisco on April
29, 1915, under tow by the steamer Edgar H
Vance for the Panama Canal, with the plan of
sailing  independently from the canal {o



Figure 4.9. Aggi at the dock. Photo courtesy of the Monterey Maritime Museum.

Malmo, Sweden, with a cargo of 2,500 tons
of barley and 600 tons of beans (Fouts
1989:4). The two vessels encountered a
severe storm that parted the towing cable the
following day. The Aggi's cargo shifted as
the storm reached its height, putting the lee
rails under water and submerging half the

) e— .
bunks The crew could not

maneuver the vessel properly in this condition
and, despite attempts to reach the city of Santa
Barbara, the Aggi fetched up with great force
on Talcott Shoals, 1 mile from the west end of
Santa Rosa Island, at 3:30 P.M. on May 3,
1915.

The Edgar H Vance also encountered
severe difficulties in the storm, limping back
into San Francisco on May 5 with a jury
rudder and assistance from the tugs Navigator,

Frrannctla
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Rover, and Dauniless.
The summary of the maritime declaration
following the wreck of the Aggi states:

Aggi (WIBM) of Lyngor sailed from
San Francisco on April 29 |1915]

under tow to sail through the Panama
(anal

LN+ § 48 %

\fery s0non a storm broke out

SULL A SVl W UAL

and the cargo was displaced and the
towing rope was broken. The ship got
a leak and tried to get to Santa Rosa
Island as a harbor of refuge. In the
entrance, the ship grounded on May 3
on a ground not marked on the map,
leaked full of water, and was totally
wrecked. The crew saved themselves
in the ship's boats. The maritime
declaration was held in San Francisco




May 10 and legal investigation in
Tvedestrand July 16. Resuli—cause of
the wreckage was stormy weather and
the case was dismissed |Norwegian
Archives|.

[aller provides further ominous details of

~ihe last voyage, including the desertion of the
ship's cat at the beginning of the voyage and
the death of the cabin boy during the voyage
to San Francisco.

Articles in the Los Angeles Times provide
follow-up details of the crew's efforts o reach
Santa Barbara afier establishing a temporary
camp on Santa Rosa Island. Salvage of at

feast two large and five small anchors from
the vessel is mentioned (Fouts 1989:7).
Although only a small amount of cargo was
retrieved, many fittings and other small
portable items were saved.

The vessel played its final role as a movie
set for the Universal Film Company. ‘The
carliest film crew, from Ulying-A Moving
Picture Studios, atiempted to film (he wreck
less than three weeks after it happened, on
May 24, 1915 (Fouts 1989:6). Grandiose
plans to utilize the wreck as a centerpicce in
several other [ilms came to nothing, although
a company of six Universal Film stars actually
visited the wreckage. Only a small amount of

Figure 4.10. Aggi in a different color scheme, presumably under an earlier owner.  Photo
courtesy of the Monterey Maritime Museum.
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film was exposed, due to stormy conditions
(Fouts 1989:8). Fouts states that the company,
which included silent stars Grace Cunard and
Francis Ford, camped out on Santa Rosa
Island at a spot 6 miles distant from the Aggi.
Although it seems more reasonable that the
company would have stayed in Cuyler Harbor
on San Miguel Island, which is also 6 miles
from the Aggi, newspaper articles are specific
that Universal executives went over to the
"camp on Santa Rosa Island" that was "distant
about six miles from the wreck . . . in one of
the few good spots for camping that this part
of the island supplies" (SBMP, May 18,

1915). The camp might have been located at
the mouth of Arlington Canyon, Cafiada
Verde, on the north coast, or possibly at
China Camp on the south side of the island.

Smuggler's Island, starring Cunard and
Ford and produced by Universal, may contain
footage from the location of the Aggi. A 1915
Universal newsreel may also have the Aggi
footage. Attempts to locate film exposed on
the wreck have been unsuccessful.

Glenn Miller, a dive boat operator,
discovered the wreck for scuba divers during
the 1960s. He removed one of the anchors,
donating it to the Santa Barbara Historical

Figure 4.11. An incomplete map of the wreck scatter of the Aggi.

Norder.
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NPS drawing by Mark



Figure 4.12. Aggi anchor. NPS photo by Steve Barksy.,

Society in 1967 (SBNP, December 17, 1967),
where it remains on display today. Thereisa
notable lack of brass around the wreck, due to
the activities of thieves.

Archeological Record

LY Lot o F o
LU TCCL UL W

The wreck lies in 20 © ter
near the shallowest portion of Talcott Shoal.
The wreckage of the Aggi is more scattered

than that of any of the other major wrecks

known in the park (Figure 4.11). In 20 feet of

water on top of the reef, a massive anchor
chain at the bow still connects a windlass, a
hawsehole and pipe ripped free of the bow,
and a remaining anchor (Figure 4.12). The
bow, which once contained this hawse pipe,
has been carried off and deposited to the east
over 200 feet away in deeper water. The steel
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frames visible in the central portion of the
wreck are noticeably less massive than those
of the Goldenhorn.

The main wreck scatter extends into
deeper walter in a southerly dircction. A large
piece that is nearly the entire hull bottom,
containing the keelson, side keelsons, and

Hoacn e
deep floors, lea y to the stern, the

deepest portion of the wreck. The extant
keelson, one massive I-beam, is more than
200 feet long, and the associated piece of hull
bottom is intact out to the turn of the bilges.
Mast steps for the mainmast and mizzenmast
are 76 feet apart. The foremast step remains
unlocated. The keelson has twisted over to
the east, or starboard, side uniformly
throughout its length. The keelson is flanked
by side keelsons 6 feet distant and bilge
keelsons a similar interval toward the turn of

ds directly



the bilges. There are intercostal plates
beneath the side keelsons. Frames are spaced
on 2-foot centers.

Upper wreckage forward of the mainmast
has been swept clear of this hull bottom piece
and generally deposited in a great jumble to
the east. Sternward, the keelson and hull
bottom are overlain by pieces of the port side
of the hull, down to the mizzenmast step,
where about 20 feet of the keelson is again
exposed before ending beneath another piece
of port hull side.

Separated, and some distance away in 60
fect of water, is the stern, intact from the keel
up to the main deck level, tilted over to
starboard. Here can be found a well-preserved
fantail. The rudder, tiller, and patent steering
gear lie nearby.

Mast fragments (Figure 4.13), hull side
pieces, and decking lie southeast of these
prominent pieces, clearly deposited in this
pattern by the prevailing northwesterly swells
and current (Figure 4.14). Deck beams are
spaced on 4-foot centers. East of the
mainmast step and the mizzenmast step lie
fragments of the respective masts. Among the

. . L
fragments of the mainmast is a

4.15) for a donkey engine. Close by are two
capstans (Figure 4.16). No sections of the
foremast are evident. Also missing are pieces
belonging to any above-deck construction or
any sign of the galley or associated brickwork.,

A startling example of the force generated
by wave action is the presence of the cutwater,
the forwardmost piece of the hull, completely
separated from the rest of the wreckage and
deposited more than 270 feet to the east of the

hailar Bignre
OOLCT (Cigure

49

Figure 4.13. Detail of the Aggi mast
rigging. NPS drawing by Mark Norder.

main hull bottom. FEven though the nearest
part of Santa Rosa Island is slightly less than
a mile away, the beaches along the island east
of Talcott Shoal must have received a great
deal of material that floated away from the
wreck as it broke up.

The present northerly orientation of the
wreckage indicates that the seas musi have
pivoted the wrecked wvessel nearly 180

degrees, since it was traveling southeast when
struck. As a result, the bow was virtually

_ L R
Figure 4.14. Mast on the Aggi site. NPS
photo by Steve Barsky.




Iigure 4.15. Detail of the Aggi donkey
engine. NPS drawing by Mark Norder.

chewed to bits. The keelson must have laid
over as the hull broke up, and the masts,
pushed by the prevailing winds, fell to the
cast. This pivoting motion would have also
torn the stern loose.

On a prominent headland near Talcott
Shoal, archeological survey crews found a
massive hearth filled with ferrous metal scrap,
indicating that the fire was fueled with historic
period driftwood.  Immediately adjacent to
this headland is a beach that is very
conspicuous {rom the location of the Aggi on
Talcott Sheal. This hearth may represent the
remains of a large signal lire, perhaps ignited
by the crew of the Aggi afler making the
ncarest landfall on Santa Rosa Island. This
distinctive hearth is unlike any feature noted ai
Chinese-American  abalone camps on  the
tsland, the closest of which is only about a
mile away on the south side of the island.
Archacomagnetic  dating  of  this  hearth
might help to determine whether this feature is
associated with the wreck of the Aggi.
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e
Figure 4.16, Capstan on the Aggi sile.
photo by Steve Barsky.

Liebre
1921-(1921)-1953
O1l Tanker

7,057 tons
4,327 tons

Gross Tonnage
Net Tonnage

Length 435 feet
Beant 56.2 feet
Depth 33.4 feet
Decks two
Oficial Number 221073
Construction steel



Historical Record

The Liebre began its career inauspiciously,
as the following newspaper article (LAT,
March 2, 1921) attests:

BOAT ON ROCKS ON FIRST VOYAGE

Big Oil Tanker Goes into Dry Dock at
Harbor for Repairs

Los Angeles Harbor, March 1-—The
10,200-ton oil tanker Liebre, which
went on the rocks on Anacapa Island
in the Santa Barbara group at 11
o'clock last night, will go into dry
dock at the plant of the Los Angeles
Shipbuilding and Dry Dock Company
tomorrow for a survey and repairs.
Before going into dry dock, the cargo
of 75,000 barrels of oil will be
pumped from the vessel at the Standard
Oil dock.

The Liebre, which was on her maiden
voyage from San Pedro to Seattle, ran
aground six hours after leaving the
local harbor. Capt. Cameron said his
vessel grounded in a dense fog. After
being held in a perilous position on the
rocky shore of the island, the Liebre
was floated four hours later at high
tide. S.0O.S. calls for assistance had
been sent out, but the vessel pulled off
under its own power before other
vessels had reached the scene.

Had the vessel gone on the rocks a few
hours later, at high tide, it would have
been necessary to discharge its entire
cargo of oil, valued at several hundred
thousand dollars, into the sea in order
to lighten the vessel. The vessel raised
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itself’ sufficiently with the incoming
tide to free itself, however,
when the high water mark was
reached at 3 a.m.

Proceeding back to the local harbor
under slow speed, the tanker dropped

anchor in the outer harbor at 12:50
p.m. It was impossible at that time to
determine the extent of damage done,
and no survey will be made until the
ship is placed in dry dock. The entire
six sections of the 12,000-ton dry
dock at the shipyard will be used in
lifting the giant tanker. Had not the
dry dock been completed a few weeks
ago, the Liebre would have had to
proceed to San Francisco for the
repairs which will be made here.

The Liebre was launched at San
Francisco in  December, was
completed in February and arrived at
the harbor on her first trip Sunday
morning. She is a sister ship of the
tanker Yorba Linda, which sailed
from here on her maiden voyage to
Tampico two weeks ago.

The exact location of this grounding is
unknown. The report of casualty filed by the
captain of the Liebre contradicts the
newspaper article in stating: “After vessel
stranded, jetson [sic] cargo in forward deep
tanks and work engines to back off, which
was accomplished."

The attitude expressed in this article about
dumping oil at sea is a fascinating contract
with present day concerns. The newspaper is
contradicted by the wreck report which states
that 40 percent, by value of the cargo in the
forward tanks, was jettisoned when the vessel
grounded on the southeast shore of Anacapa,




very near the unattended navigation acetylene
light.

The Liebre had a long carcer, remiaining in
Merchant Vessels of the Unired Stares as lale
as 1952, The vessel was scrapped in
November 1953, Original tonnage figures tor
the vessel were 7,444 tons (gross) and 4,590
tons (net).

Cubua
|897-1923
Cargo-passcnger Liner

3.168.8 tons
L. 862 tons

Gross Tonnage
Net Tonnage

Length 307.7 fect
Beam 42.2 feet
Depth 24.7 feet
Decks two
Official Number 215771
Construciion steel

Ilistorical Record

The famed German shipyard of Blohm and
Voss, which also built the World War 1
German batileship, Bismarck and the Coast
Guard training ship FLagle, among others,
taunched the Coblenz, the ship that was 1o
become the Cuba, from its Hamburg shipyard
in 1897. Of steel web-frame construction, the
Cuba featured eight watertight bulkheads,
waler ballast tanks, and a double bottom.
Three single-end  Scoteh boilers  provided
steamm.  The twin triple-expansion engines
drove twin propeliers with cast-iron hubs and
detachable bronze blades.

The Cuba was a well decked ship, with a
combined poop and bridge deck 200 feet long
and a forecastle deck 47 feet long. Between
these (wo consiructions lay the main cargo
hold, or well. ‘The amidships bridge deck and
steering station were open. Most of the

passenger accommodations lay aft. By the
carly 1920s, the Cuba featured a high
technology wireless radio, clectric lights, and
“cerlificd electrical apparatus” (RAFS 1922)
(that included auxitiary batteries with some 59
cells (Migure 4.17).

The Coblenz was in a Philippine port
when the United States entered World War [
The vessel was seized as a war prize and

Fipure 4.17. View aboard the Cuba, looking,

siernward.  The deck machinery in the
foreground is prominent in the wreckage
today. Photo courtesy of Santa Barbara
Muscun of Natural History.



Figure 4.18. Cuba as Sachem. Photo courtesy of Mike McGarvey.

admitted to American registry under a joint
resolution of Congress on May 12, 1917, and
was renamed the Sachem (Figure 4.18). After
being purchased by the Pacific Mail Steamship
Company from the United States Shipping
Board, the Sachem was rechrisiened the Cuba
on May 11, 1920. Little is known about the
vessel's earlier career under German registry.
The following cryptic entries suggest a well-
maintained vessel (RAFS 1922). The subject
of a special survey in March 1918, the Cuba's
shafts were drawn in February 1921 and its
machinery was surveyed in August 1922. In
1922, the Cuba carried an "Al" rating, the
second highest possible.
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First placed in service between San
Francisco and Havana, the Cuba later voyaged
between various South American and Mexican
ports and San Francisco (Shaw 1985:114-
115). On August 17, 1923, the Cuba left the

nnnnn MNannl Fana
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Panama Canal Zone, stopping briefly at

stopping briefl
Mazatlan on September 3. By the early
morning hours of September 8, the Cuba
approached the waters of the Santa Barbara
Channel. The crew had navigated solely on
dead reckoning for the past three days because
of persistent fog. A lack of spare parts had
left the ship's radio unrepaired. Captain J. C.
Holland retired for the night, leaving orders
for him to be roused if visibility became less




than 5 or 6 miles, and in no case later than
3:00 A.M. in order 1o rake soundings,
Second Officer John Rochau did not eall
the captain, even though he estimated visibility
at 4 miles while on waich. When First Officer
Wise arrived 1o take the watch at 4:00 AM.,
he immediately awakened the captain. In the
words of the radio operator, "the capiain was
already on the bridge, his shoes merely
slipped on, with his suspenders hanging over
his hips, and was taking charge of the vessel
(LAT, September 10, 1923). Tolland direcled
an immediale turn to port {west), and at that
time the vessel struck rocks about onc-guarter
mile off Point Bennett, San Miguel Island.
Holland ordered reverse cngines and the
Cuba brictly reflomed, but was swung around
by the seas and ran onto the rocks stern first,
demolishing the propellers. In rough seas, the
vessel lisied to port, causing complications in
launching the starboard lifeboats, which had to
be dragged across the vessel to the port davits,
Captain {Tolland, the purscr, the steward,
and eight crew remained aboard to puard the
cargo, an important part of which was silver
bullion, while the rest of the crew and
passengers ook to the  lifeboats.
Consternation and near panic among  the
second-class passengers on the lower deck was
handled capably by Stewardess Loitic Brown,
While most of the lifeboats reached the beach
at Point Bennett, the Hiteboat of First Officer
Wisce voyaged east along the south side of San
Miguel Island and entered the Santa Barbara
Channel through the San Miguel passage.
After a brief encounier with some troublesome
whales, Wise and his crewmen hailed the
Standard Oil tanker W F Miller, which
transported them to San Francisco.  ‘Those
who had arrived on the beach gave out storics
of vessel wreckage and human remains {hat
littered the arca. Three lumber schooners
known to have wrecked in the immediate

vicinity certataly contribuied to the wreckage,
while the abundant archeological sites at Poini
Bennett provided the human skeletons.

Two other lifeboats, one commanded by
the luckless Second Officer Rochau, traveled
due west, owing Lo a compass reversal, and by
great pood fortune encountered the navy
destroyer USS Reno in thick fog. This vessel
turned to Point Benneit and removed the
people from the beach, returning them to San
Pedro.  The Rero also sent the first radio
messages  concerning  the  disaster o the
outside world.  On September 9, or a few
days later, the USS Selfridge reached the
wreck and removed the stlver bullion, as well
as most of the crew that had remained behing.
Passengers and builion eveniually reached San
Francisco aboard the sieamer Verezuela., A
court ol inquiry later fixed the blame on
Sccond Officer Rochau, whose license was
suspended for 90 days (SBMP, Seplember 29,
[923).

The wireless traffic resulting from the
notification of authoritics about ihe Cuba's
fatc has been sugpesied as g contributing
factor to one of the worst peacetime disasters
ever suifered by the U.S, Navy, the wrecking
of & ftotilla of destroyers near Point Arguello
about five hours later. The naval board of
inquiry that invesrigated this mass wrecking,
apparently - considered the possibility  but
rejected it

Captain Holland and six crew members
remained with the Cuba until September 14,
staying in the fisherman's hut at Point Bennert
and removing "money, bullion, passengers’
baggage and other valuables”  from  (he
stricken ship,  "Fwo  watchmen were  lelt
behind (SBMP, September 15, 1923), but they
were evidently not effective, being mentioned
later only for sclling some deck chairs for
575. Frenzied sabvage of borderline legality



promptly ensued, keeping the Cuba in the
newspapers for several more weeks.
Undoubtedly, more salvage occurred than has
been recorded; the Cuba rests in an isolated
spot, open {0 every passing ship.

Captain Ira Eaton visited the Cuba first,
searching primarily for bootleg liquor but
finding only much cheaper marijuana, which
was thrown overboard in disgust. Eaton did
find more than 500 letters that he turned over
to postal authorities (SBMP, Sepiember 26,
1923). The next day a band of 16 armed men
(apparently Eaton and his crew) had taken
over the Cuba, removing "blocks, radio sets
and aerials, nautical instruments, mahogany
doors and panels, glassware, galley-gear,
linen, and parts of the cargo to the value of
more than $400,000" (SBMP, September 27,
1923). Eaton is reported in the same article to
have recovered "a piano, bedding, carpets,
furniture, mail, electric fans, galley
equipment, and coal." Lloyd's of London was
asking for bids on the Cuba at this time, even
as other salvagers were heading for the wreck.
One group, led by Marcella Dillon, was
"repulsed by Captain Eaton and a dozen of his
crew, who drove them away with guns,
threatening to shoot anyone who attempts to
come aboard" (SBMP, September 28, 1923).
At this point, Lloyd's asked the Los Angeles
district attorney to take action against the
salvagers.

The revenue cutter Vaughn steamed to the
wreck with orders to capture all trespassers
and seize salvaged items, as Eaton and
Lloyd's representatives debated the legal status
of the Cuba and its goods. They eventually
struck a deal whereby Eaton was to receive 40
percent of the value of the goods he had
removed for his efforts. At the same time,
Marcella Dillon was reported to have stripped
and sold fittings and goods from the vessel in
another unauthorized salvage operation
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(SBMP, September 30, 1923). Dillon did
apparently salvage and sell some material at
the dock in Santa Barbara, including
"blankets, coats, carpets, rope, electric
switches and motors, drug stores, and
commissary stores” (LAT, September 19,
1923)

As the dispute was negotiated, "a
company of Motion Picture actors [used] the
wreck for the past two days for shipwreck
pictures” (SBMP, October 2, 1923). The
company was from the Thomas Ince Studios
of Hollywood (SBMP, September 30, 1923).
The result of this filming, or the whereabouts
of any resulting footage, is unknown.

Finally, as the vessel listed "40 degrees to
port" and began breaking up, Eaton and
Lloyd's struck a deal for the hulk, paying an
undisclosed price (SBMP, October 7, 1923).
Although Eaton planned to strip machinery
from the vessel with divers, no additional
salvage occurred, as oil from the wreck
hindered operations. Eaton apparently paid
$700 for the wreck.

In addition to the salvage related above,
the Cuba's safe and some corner-mount sinks
reached the ranch on San Miguel Island. The
preceding accounts suggest that as salvage
commenced, the most valuable and portable
items were taken first—understandable
behavior in view of the precarious nature of
the wreck and its steady disintegration. Much
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ol interest remains on the wreck today.

Archeological Record

The wreckage of the Cuba is the most
compact and organized of all of the major
wrecks in the park (Figure 4.19). Despite the
violent nature of the waters around Point
Bennett, the material has remained in place.
An impression gained from repeated dives on
the wreck is that the Cuba is actually sheltered
from heavy seas by a series of shallow







STEAMSHIP CUBA

PT. BENNETT, SAN MIGUEL I1SLAND
CHANNEL ISLANDS NATIONAL PARK
SHIPWRECK SURVEYED ON OCTOBER 17-19, 1989

TWIN SCREW STEAMER

BUILT EY; Bickm § Voss 1597
Hamtyurg, Germany

WRECKED: September 8, 1823
LENGTH: 307.7 Foet

WIDTH: 422 Feot

DEPTH: 24.7 Fest

GROSS TONS: 3168

Figure 4.19. Cuba wreckage. Drawing by Don Morris, Mark Senning, Dave Stoliz, Kim
Slinninger, and Michael Eng. Final Rendition by Carol Vesely.
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Figure 4.20. One of the three corner sinks
present today at the Lester Ranch ruins, San
Miguel Island. At least one identical sink is
present within the Cuba wreck scatter. NPS
photo by Don Morris.

reefs that flank it on the north, west, and
south, and by Point Bennett on the east and
southeast. The immediate vicinity of the
wreck 1s calmer than the surrounding area,
although the wreck s usually not
approachable. A southern swell, particularly
common during summer months, presents a
discouraging picture to prospective divers.

The vessel's cutwater is tilted back at
roughly a 45-degree angle, pointing south.
Right in front of the bow lies an anchor with
attached anchor chain. Two other anchors,
one still within a hawse pipe, can be found in
wreckage on the starboard side of the bow.
The main deck near the bow has fallen straight
down, retaining an anchor winch and related
gear. This area of the wreckage can be
compared with a photograph of this portion of
the stranded Cuba.

Proceeding aft, two more large winches
can be found amidships in an area near the
cargo mast and the main hatch. A fragment of
4-inch ceramic-tiled surface is located here,

near fragments of bulkhead or decking, all of
which suggest relatively finished construction
that might be associated with the bridge.
Also, here is a metal corner wash basin
(Figure 4.20) 1dentical to three found at the
Lester ranch house on San Miguel Island,
perhaps from the forecastle. Inner aspects of
both port and starboard hull side are visible
beneath extensive sections of the main deck.
Several bitts and empty portholes occur here.

Swimming north, or aft, a diver sees
prominent sections of the floors lying beneath
two conspicuous single-end Scotch boilers.
Immediately aft are the massive twin triple-
expansion steam engines (Figures 4.21, 4,22
and 4.23), standing upright and reaching

Figure 4.21.

The Cuba’s triple expansion
engines reach to within ten feet of the surface.
NPS photo by Mark Norder.




Figure 4.22. Documenting the Cuba, San Miguel [sland. NPS photo by Mark
Norder.

fipure 4.23. Another view of the Cuba's engines. A diver
can casily swim through the openings below the expansion
chambers. NPS photo by Mark Norder.
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NPS photo by Mark Norder.

within less than 10 feet of the surface at low
tide. Nearby are fragments of copper wire
and paired pump assemblies. Twin propeller
shafts (Figure 4.24), still on bearings, flank
the condenser and lead aft to the stern area.
There, sections of surfaces tiled in a
distinctive, octagonal, two-color ceramic tile,
as well as individual tiles, suggest the
furnishings of the passenger accommodations.
On the starboard side near a piece of hull side,
are a smaller single-ended Scotch boiler, two
separate bronze propeller blades, rudder
fragments, and sections of the steering gear.

Figure 4.24. One of the Cuba’s detachable propeller blades is visible at the left of the photo.
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Throughout the wreckage, bare circular
holes in hull side fragments proclaim the
former locations of portholes.  Despite
obvious pillage by brass thieves, much
material remains on this turn-of-the-century
steamer. Its wild and remote setting in the
breakers at Point Bennett, the proliferation of
pinnipeds around the wreck, and the beautiful
kelp canopy make the Cuba a tremendously
impressive  dive. [ts historical and
archeological potential is far greater than the
brass artifacts that have lured vandals here in
the past.



Beulah
1923-(1933)-1948
Copra Freighter

Gross Tonnage
Net Tonnage

1,389 tong
1,042 tons

Length 232 feet, 6 inches
Beam 37 feet, 7 inches
Depih 20 feet, 4 inches
Decks ane

Official Number 15639
Construction steel

Historical Record

The Beulak is frequently mentioned as an
Anacapa  Island  wreck. The following

newspaper account indicates only a brief

grounding for this vessel.  Little more is

known of its history.

IFlood Brothers' fittle  Panamanian
motor  ship  Beuluh yesterday  a

daytight worked herself frec from the
reefs off the cast end of Anacapa
[sland, on which she had prounded in
fog threc  hours previous, and
proceeded 10 San Francisco apparently
little damaged.

The Beuluh, operating in copra trade

among  the  Tonga  and  Fiji
archipelagos, sailed for San Francisco
from  this  port Thursday  after
discharging  resin cargo  from

Manzanillo. Of 1045 net tons, she was
originally built as a bark at Grimsied,
Norway, in 192 |?], then being named
Heiren.  'T'wo Bolindor diesels were
mstalled when her spars and yards
were removed |LAT, September 23,
1933, Shipping News].

Although the ship remained in Norwegian
registry, by 1926 it was powered by twin
dicsel  engines, The  Beulah  attained
Panamanian  registry by 1929  (Lioyd's
Registry, 1929-30).  The vessel was last
known as 7ai Woo in the 1947.48 Lloyd's
Registry.

Aristocratis
1943-(1949)-1968
Freighter (Liberty Ship)

7,191 tong
4,309 tons
441.5 feet

Gross Tonnage
Net Tonnage
Length

Beam 57 feet
Depth 37.3 feet
Decks two
Official Number MCELE 1006
Construction sieel

Historical Record

The Aristocratis, the former Liberty ship
William H Jackson, grounded in "soupy fog"
near Johmson's Lee on Santa Rosa Istand on
December 1, 1949, while en route to
"Keelung, Formosa, " (Taiwan) with a cargo
of coal. Another newspaper article describes
the cargo as "ammonium sulphate in holds,

fanks on

deck.” Inunediaie radio messages

from the vessel indicated no danger to the
crew of 30 "if the weather held. " Three Coast
Guard cutiers, the Perseus, the Diligence, a